# Kelunji EchoPro Crack and Structural Monitoring System

# User Manual for Installation, Data Collection, and Data Analysis.



Thomas Koegel

# Table of Contents

User Manual	3
Introduction	3
Kelunji EchoPro Setup	6
Sensor Installation	10
LARCOR Compliance Seismograph Setup	15
Integration of compliance seismograph as ground motion and air overpressure trigger	17
Sensor Wiring	19
EchoPro Analysis – Software, Scripts, and Templates	21
Generating Output Reports	36
Appendices	43
Appendix A - Kelunji EchoPro Recording Unit	43
Appendix B - Connector Boxes	46
Appendix C - Geophones	52
Appendix D - LVDT's	55
Appendix E - Temperature & Humidity Logger	59
Appendix F - LARCOR – Kelunji Serial Splitter	62
Appendix G - Setting Trigger Levels	64
Appendix H - Field Computation	67
Appendix I - Excel Analysis Templates	69
Appendix J - Filtering and Storage of Data	79
Appendix K – Sample Data Practice Example: Excel Templates	83
Appendix L - Excel Template Modifications	94

# **User Manual**

# Introduction

This manual describes use of a new hybrid autonomous crack and structural response monitoring (ACSM) system. It is designed as a low cost alternative to the research grade version employing SOMAT's eDAQ data recording system. The concept is to combine a new field portable, 24 bit, 12 channel seismograph with a compliance seismograph. The 24 bit seismograph monitors the crack and structural response, while the compliance seismograph monitors ground motions and air over pressures. While this manual specifically describes use of a Kelunji EchoPro 24 bit seismograph linked with a LARCOR compliance seismograph, other compliance seismograph could be employed with the system with a minimum of effort.

As configured the Kelunji EchoPro (KEP) recorder can monitor autonomously monitor crack and structural response in a wide range of field configurations. Cost and simplicity were the main priorities for design of the hybrid system. The full installation, illustrated in Figure 1 includes structural response velocity and crack sensors, a LARCOR compliance seismograph with a trigger connection, connector boxes, and the KEP unit. The KEP and connector boxes organized in a field container are shown in Figure 2. Data collected with the device can be manipulated and visually communicated quickly and effectively with excel-based scripts and templates developed specifically for use with the KEP.



Figure 1: Components of the hybrid autonomous crack & structural monitoring (ACSM) system

The hybrid ACSM system monitors both long term movements of the cracks and responses to transient events both within and outside of the structure. Data files are saved locally to a USB storage device with in the KEP. The system can autonomously record for long time periods with monthly replacements of the memory device. This month long storage potential matches typical site inspection periods and storage potentials of compliance seismographs.

The system is accompanied by a dedicated net book computer to manipulate the raw data and produce graphical reports in a semi-autonomous fashion. This net book computer replaces some of the functionality of the back-end central computer employed in the research grade autonomous monitoring systems employed by the Infrastructure Technology Institute at Northwestern University. The entire configuration, KEP, sensors, compliance seismograph, and net book are meant to operate as a system. Thus a good deal of this manual is devoted to use of the dedicated software in the netbook portion of the system.

The purpose of this user manual is to explain the necessary steps to deploy the Kelunji EchoPro in the field. Physical aspects of installation, operation of the hybrid system, and graphical report generation are described in this manual. Not includes are specific steps in manufacturing specific components or other more technical discussions. Following the instructions allows the operation of the full hybrid system as well as the production of graphical reports that compare long term and transient crack response.



Figure 2: KEP and connector boxes in field container

This user manual is divided into specific sections, each detailing a particular aspect of the installation or operation of the system. The installation of the system includes KEP Setup, Sensor Installation, LARCOR Compliance Seismograph Setup, Integration of the Compliance Seismograph, and Sensor Wiring. The EchoPro Analysis and Generating Output Reports sections discuss the data analysis and the important features of an output report. Appendices include more details about the individual system components, scripts and templates, system setup, and other considerations.

# Kelunji EchoPro Setup

#### Powering

Power for the Kelunji EchoPro recorder is supplied by a 12V DC battery or a regulated 12V DC power supply. For the first option, it is important to replace or recharge the battery when it runs low. For the second option, the regulated power supply can be plugged into an active electric outlet. More information on powering the unit can be found in Appendix A or the Kelunji EchoPro user manual.

#### **Connector Boxes**

The next step in preparing the EchoPro is to attach the two connector boxes. These are shown on the left and right side of Figure 4. Each box is labeled by its channel numbers and its corresponding Kelunji ports (A, B, C, D) as described in appendices A and B. These ports are located in the front right, back right, back left, and front left respectively. To connect the boxes, the two bayonet cables from each must be connected to the correct port on the EchoPro recorder. Ports "A" and "B" are attached to the powered connector box, which transmits sensor channels one through six. LVDTs are connected to these channels. Ports "C" and "D" are attached to the unpowered box, which transmits sensor channels seven through twelve. Geophones and an external trigger can be connected to these channels. These connectors and connections are described in detail in Appendix B.

#### System Storage

In the field, it is important for the system to be housed in a secure location as shown in Figure 3 through Figure 5. For a previous deployment, a plastic bin about three feet long, one and a half feet wide, and two feet tall was utilized. To help organize the bin, the connector boxes should be adhered to the sides with double-sided Velcro tape or another viable method after being connected to the EchoPro recorder. Also, a slot should be cut out of the back for the sensor wires to enter the bin. Place the 12V regulated power supply or battery on the opposite end of the bin, along with any other necessary system components. Figure 3 through Figure 5 below show the system fully connected and organized within the storage bin



Figure 3: EchoPro Storage Bin – Open





Figure 5: EchoPro Storage Bin - Closed

#### **Data Storage**

The Kelunji EchoPro recorder requires an external source of data storage. It can be archived externally with an internet connection or saved to a local USB memory device. The simplest method is to use a flash (thumb) drive with a large amount of storage capacity.

The memory device connects to the Kelunji EchoPro in the USB port shown in Figure 6. The EchoPro should be powered off when inserting the storage drive. Once it is put in the unit, the EchoPro can be powered on and the device status can be checked with the USB storage info link on the left side of the main menu screen. If working properly, the name of the drive and the available memory should display in the window.



Figure 6: Location of Data Storage Port inside the EchoPro Recorder

Similar to the installation of the USB drive, removal of the drive requires the unit to be powered off to ensure data is not corrupted. Then, the device can be removed from the EchoPro to retrieve the data. At this point, either a replacement flash drive should be installed or the original can be reused if the data is first transferred to an external hard drive. If the second option is taken, it is important to ensure the data copied correctly and then clear the USB storage device before reinserting it into the EchoPro. The recorder can then be restarted and data acquisition can continue.

## **Starting Data Collection**

It is important to start the Kelunji EchoPro recording process once the unit is installed and ready to record data. Also, the recorder needs to be turned on during the process of centering the LVDT targets.

Data collection can be stopped or started from the netbook while connected to the web-based EchoPro interface. To start the system, connect the netbook to the recorder via the crossover cable and use the IP address as the URL in a web browser. It will ask for a log in name and password, which is by default "Kelunji" and "secret" respectively. Once at the Kelunji main menu, turn on the recorder with the button in the upper left hand corner shown in Figure 7. If there are no conflicts, the unit will begin data capture. While the recording process is on, the current signal values of the sensors can be viewed by selecting the appropriate link in the menu.

**\*\*Note:** Data capture can only be started if a viable data storage method is installed.



Figure 7: Starting and Stopping Data Capture on the Kelunji EchoPro Recorder

## **Sensor Installation**

#### Objective

This section shows the process of sensor installation for use with the EchoPro recorder. Most of these processes can be completed concurrently and the organization below does not represent a timeline. However, there are certain steps in this manual that require a previous step to be completed first. These exceptions will be noted.

#### Process

Sensor installation of a test site includes the LVDT displacement transducers for crack monitoring, the geophone velocity transducers for structural monitoring, and the SUPCO temperature and humidity gauges for interior and exterior recording. The final position of each sensor should be measured and each sensor should be labeled by channel number. More information on these sensors can be found in appendices C, D, and E.

#### -LVDTS

Installing the LVDTs requires two main steps: mounting the sensors and setting targets. The process of mounting the sensors begins with identifying the cracks that need to be monitored. Assuming these are known ahead of time, the exact placement of the sensors relative to the cracks is important. LVDTs must be setup at a point where the crack is "in-plane", meaning that the LVDT body and target will be perfectly parallel to each other when mounted. Also, the LVDT body needs to be close to (within a few mm) but not touching the crack to be monitored.

With the sensor placement determined, the LVDT body can be secured to the wall with 60 or 90 second epoxy. Make sure to mix the epoxy well and to hold the body firmly to the wall until it is secure. Duct tape can be used after this period to prevent sensor movement and guarantee the epoxy will have time to fully set. Photographs for this process are shown in Figure 8 and Figure 9 below.

10



Figure 8: LVDT Body - Epoxied to Wall



Figure 9: Applying Pressure while Epoxying LVDT

Setting the sensor targets is a difficult but crucial step for the correct installation of the LVDTs. Before this step can occur, the LVDT must be connected to the fully prepared EchoPro recorder. Therefore, this is one of the last operations to perform when installing the system.

The key to correct positioning of the sensor target (and LVDT core) includes 3 major criteria:

- 1. Target must be in the nominal range (0.1 inches for the LVDTs at Sycamore)
- 2. Target should be centered in the nominal range
- 3. LVDT core <u>must</u> be parallel to LVDT body

Figure 10 through Figure 13 below show the completed installation of the sensors. The steps required to achieve these results are as follows. One individual must monitor the sensor output with the netbook connected to the Kelunji EchoPro. Refer to the EchoPro user manual for detailed explanation of how to accomplish this. Once the current sensor outputs are being monitored, a second person can apply 90-second epoxy to the sensor target base. The second person should begin pressing the target to the wall while moving the LVDT core and screw into the body. To ensure the core is parallel to the body (criterion 3), a small drinking straw can be placed on the end of the core when moving it into the LVDT body and then pulled through the opposite side of the LVDT.

Once the monitoring individual detects the sensor has moved into the nominal range, he or she must communicate this fact with the person installing the target. Then, directions of whether the sensor must be moved inward (to increase the output) or outward (to decrease the output) must be relayed. This process must continue until the target output should be between 3.5 million and

5.5 million A/D steps with an ideal center value of 4.2 million. Once again, duct tape can be used to maintain sensor position until the epoxy hardens.



Figure 10: Process for Aligning Target with LVDT



Figure 11: LVDT: Ceiling



Figure 12: LVDT: Wall



Figure 13: LVDT: Taped Target

## -Geophones

Proper Geophone installation is shown in Figure 14 through Figure 15 below. Mounting the geophones is accomplished in one of two ways based on the sensor location and orientation. For the horizontal geophones mounted on walls, apply 90 second epoxy to the metal bracket and firmly hold in the desired location until the epoxy hardens. To ensure the sensor does not shift on the wall, use duct tape to hold the geophone in place while the epoxy cures fully.

The process is more complicated for vertical geophones mounted to a ceiling. To ensure that the sensor is adequately attached, it should be bolted to the drywall with screws. A vertical geophone to be mounted in this manner should have a bracket with pre-made holes, as outlined in Appendix C. To install the geophone to the ceiling, drill pilot holes at the sensor position. Then, use screws to secure the bracket to the ceiling (without the geophone). It is best to try to set the screws into a wooden joist when possible. Finally, firmly re-attach the geophone to the bracket with the threaded connection.



Figure 14: Horizontal Geophone: Wall



Figure 15: Vertical Geophone: Ceiling

## -SUPCO Temperature and Humidity Logger

Installing the SUPCO loggers in the field is relatively simple. Figure 16 shows a logger installed in the field. Setting up the devices is covered in Appendix E as well as the SUPCO user manual. This step must be completed before they can be deployed in the field.

Once the loggers are prepared, one should be mounted on a wall near the indoor sensors. Make sure that the sensor will not be subjected to direct sunlight because this could throw off the sensor readings. The easiest method for mounting the SUPCO logger is to use double-sided Velcro tape. Velcro is preferred because it allows for the logger to be temporarily taken down for data retrieval and then replaced. The other one should be mounted on an exterior wall in a place where it will be protected from rain and direct sunlight. A good location could be underneath a roof overhang or other source of shade and protection.

Once installed, ensure that the logger is recording data by looking at the indicator light in the bottom left corner of the device. If it blinks green once about every 15 seconds, it is recording correctly.



Figure 16: SUPCO Temperature and Humidity Gauge

# LARCOR Compliance Seismograph Setup

The LARCOR Compliance Seismograph and its sensors will be connected the Kelunji EchoPro to serve as an external trigger source. Also, the LARCOR will record data on triggered events from its air overpressure sensor and tri-axial geophone.

**\*\*Note:** If the LARCOR system is already installed at a given location, **skip** this section.

The first step is to setup the systems sensors for long term installation. Attach the air overpressure sensor to the exterior wall of the house with bolts or another viable method as in Figure 18. Then, connect it to the corresponding port on the LARCOR. Bury the tri-axial geophone six to twelve inches underground, positioned flat and perpendicular to the wall of the house. Figure 17 shows the installation of the geophone.



Figure 17: Triaxial Geophone – Buried



Figure 18: LARCOR with Air Overpressure Sensor

Place the LARCOR seismograph inside a weatherproof bin and cut small slits into the sides for the necessary wiring. To connect with the internal system, drill a small hole in the exterior wall or determine an adequate pre-existing opening to run the serial wire inside. This serial wire is split to the power source and split again to connect with the Kelunji. It can also be used to connect the system to the internet. For information related to the trigger connection cable with the Kelunji, see Appendix F. Seal the bin by placing a heavy object on the lid to ensure it remains stable and closed. Figure 19-Figure 22 show the process and final results of an installation. For more information on the LARCOR, reference the user manual for a given model



Figure 19: LARCOR Compliance Seismograph



Figure 21: LARCOR Tub Organization



Figure 20: LARCOR- Wiring to Inside



Figure 22: LARCOR Final Setup

# Integration of compliance seismograph as ground motion and air overpressure trigger

#### Objective

The LARCOR seismograph, the typical compliance hardware used by regulators, can be adjusted to serve as a trigger to the Kelunji EchoPro for a specific level of air overpressure or ground motion. This combination allows for an integration of the systems that more completely monitors key dynamic responses.

## LARCOR triggering setup

The LARCOR unit, the use of which will not be outlined here (refer to the user manual for operating instructions), can be programmed to record dynamic data given a specific threshold of air overpressure or ground particle velocity from its air blast sensor and geophone sensors respectively. For monitoring purposes, this recording process can be set to begin when the geophone detected ground motions of at least 0.04 in/s or air overpressures of at least 120 dB However, site specific values should be used to try to capture only the relevant data.

When a trigger threshold is exceeded, the LARCOR unit can be setup to output a 5V square trigger pulse through its serial output. However, in order for the trigger pulse to reach the EchoPro recorder, an additional serial splitter cable is needed. As shown in Figure 23 below, the serial output must be split first with the provided LARCOR splitter to an AC power source and a second branch. This second branch is further split with the new splitter to a free branch and a branch connected to a Turck Picofast male cable. This male cable should be plugged into the EchoPro connector box or an extension cable (as needed). With this setup, the LARCOR trigger pulse will be received by connected Kelunji port (typically channel 12 of port D, but any channel will function correctly). The details of manufacturing the new splitter cable are discussed in Appendix F.

17



Figure 23: Figure 30: LARCOR to Kelunji EchoPro Connection Diagram

## Kelunji External Triggering Process

To trigger the Kelunji with the LARCOR trigger, a separate trigger "level" process needs to be created with a threshold level of 45% of the 10 volt range. This process can be programmed to record all the connected sensors for a set amount of time, including pre-trigger data, and store the files in a separate folder specific for these triggered events. For more technical details of the triggering process, please refer to Appendix G – Setting Trigger Levels.

# **Sensor Wiring**

The final step to the installation of the system is the wiring. The sensors are connected to the EchoPro recorder via the connector boxes with Turck Picofast cables. These cables can be purchased in lengths of two, five, and ten meters. It is important to plan ahead for wire lengths.

## **Important Considerations**

When wiring the sensors to the EchoPro recorder, there are a few important considerations to account for. First, drilling through walls should be avoided unless absolutely necessary. The wires can be routed by normal means through the house. The exception to this rule is the wiring from the LARCOR seismograph to the EchoPro, which may need to run through the exterior wall. Second, wires should be labeled and organized in a way that is clear and will protect the wires from damage. This is outlined further in the sections below. Finally, wires exposed to the environment must be protected with weatherproof material at the connections to protect the system from the elements.

## Labeling

It is vital for wires to be labeled by its channel number or some other labeling method. This can be accomplished with the two options shown in Figure 24. The first option is to use a label maker to mark each cable by its unique designation. The second option is to write the label at the connection points with a permanent marker. Also, the labeling system should be documented at the time of installation as a reference to avoid any possible confusion.



Figure 24: Labeling Options for Turck Picofast Cables

## Organization

An organized system of wiring is essential to an installation that can conserve both time and material. It also protects the cables from damage while deployed in the field. The wires must be bundled with cable ties and secured to the walls or ceiling with Command hooks. The figures below photographically describe the proper method of organizing cables on site.

Proper planning can assist in this process. If the length of cable necessary between the recorder and the EchoPro is calculated ahead of time, appropriate cable lengths can be used. This helps to reduce extra lengths of cable that can hamper the organization.



Figure 25: Example Ceiling Wiring



Figure 26: Example Wiring Between Floors





Figure 28: Securing Wires to Wall

# **EchoPro Analysis - Software, Scripts, and Templates**

#### Objective

The use of software, scripts, and templates simplifies and automates the process of changing raw data into final tables and plots that can be used within a report. The scripts and templates were developed specifically for use with the Kelunji EchoPro recorder and the installation described within this user manual.

#### Kelunji Filtering Script

The Kelunji EchoPro filtering script extracts data from the USB storage device, typically a flash (thumb) drive, filters it, and saves the data into two separate types of files. Burst data files are saved as text files and labeled by the time stamp of the event. Long term data is filtered and compiled into a single text file. More information on this process and the results can be seen in Appendix J.

The steps required to execute this filtering script are as follows:

- 1. Ensure that the AutoHotKey program is installed on the netbook.
- 2. Plug the USB storage device into the netbook.
- 3. Open the Kelunji software folder on the desktop and then the conversion scripts folder
- 4. Double-click the file "Kelunji Filter Script"

(If there is an error when running the script, see the Note section below)

5. Wait until the script finishes (the process may take up to an hour). When it finishes, a notification will appear on the screen. While the script is running, the AutoHotKey icon will display in the bottom right corner of the screen, as shown in Figure 29

kel	unji software 🕨 Conversion scripts	Search	
Run	a Script 👻 🖃 E-mail 👿 Share	🕚 Burn	
	Name	Date modified	Туре
	H Kelunji Filter Script	5/18/2011 1:03 AM	AutoHotk

Figure 29: Kelunji Script Execution and System Tray Icon

- 6. Once the script finishes, a folder with the date and time the script was executed should appear on the desktop. This folder should contain three things if the script was executed properly: a temp directory, converted burst text, an hourly averages file of the long term data.
- If the script ran correctly, this data can be used in the excel analysis templates, whose process is outlined below.

<u>Note:</u> If an error occurs while the script occurs, it is likely that the input directory or output directory was not found. Right click the script and open it with a text editor such as notepad. Find the input directory near the top of the file and ensure that it is searching in the same drive letter as the USB flash drive. If this is not the issue, find the output directory and make sure it is set to the desktop. If these attempts do not solve the issue, contact the developers of the script.

#### **Additional Data Sources**

Data from sources other than the Kelunji EchoPro recorder are necessary for the proper use of the excel templates. The long term data should include temperature and humidity data from the SUPCO loggers and the dynamic event data should include external ground motion and air blast data from the LARCOR compliance seismograph. Information on retrieving data from the SUPCO units is available in Appendix E. The procedure to obtain data from the LARCOR unit can be found in the LARCOR user manual. The important consideration is that all files should be saved to either text or excel compatible formats for use in the excel templates.

#### **Excel Templates**

Each excel template procedure outlined below can be practiced using the data provided in the "template example files" folder. Graphs of the proper outputs and more information about this sample data can be found in Appendix K.

#### -Long Term Template Procedure

- 1. Start Microsoft Excel
- 2. Locate and Open the following files. For the hourly\_averages file, select fixed width in the text input wizard shown in Figure 30 and click finish. For the temperature data, select fixed width and click next. Then, as shown in Figure 31 double click and eliminate the two columns between date and time and create a column on the right side of time.
  - a. Hourly\_averages (Kelunji EchoPro long term data in folder on desktop)
  - b. Internal and external temperature data (SUPCO logger data saved to desktop)

he Text W	/izard has o	letermined	that your data is F	ixed Width.				
f this is con	rrect, choo	se Next, or	choose the data t	ype that best	describes you	ur data.		
Original da	ata type							
Choose t	he file type	that best o	lescribes your data					
O De	elimited	- Characte	rs such as comma	s or tabs sepa	arate each fiel	d.		
OF	ved width	- Fields are	e aligned in column	s with snaces	hetween eac	h field		
		The lab art		o mar opaceo	betreered	in menun		
tart impor	t at <u>r</u> ow:	1	File grigin:	437 : OE	M United Stat	es		
Preview o	t at <u>r</u> ow: of file C:\Us Interic	1 ers\Tom\Do r TH Feb	File grigin:	437 : OE Work\kelunji mperature	M United Stat echop\Inte Humidity	rior TH Feb J Kelunji.	1-May11.txt. Sample	Inter
Preview o	t at <u>r</u> ow: of file C:\Us Interic # I	1 ers\Tom\Do r TH Feb emp (F)	File grigin:	437:OE Work\kelunji mperature (%RH)	M United Stat echop\Inte Humidity Dew Poir	rior TH Feb1 Kelunji. nt (F)	1-May11.txt. Sample Date	Inter 4
Preview o	tatrow: of file C:\Us Interic # I 0	1 ers\Tom\Do r TH Feb emp (F) 55.04	File grigin: couments\2010-11 cl1-May11; Te Humidity	437:OE Work\kelunji mperature (%RH) 39.55	M United Stat echop\Inte Humidity Dew Poir	rior TH Feb J Kelunji. ht (F) 30.92	1-May11.txt. Sample Date 2/25/201:	Inte: 4
Preview of LTH:	tatrow: of file C:\Us Interic # I 0 1	1 ers\Tom\Dc r TH Feb 55.04 55.53	File grigin: comments\2010-11 cl1-May11; Te Humidity	437:OE Work\kelunji mperature (%RH) 39.55 39.94	M United Stat echop\Inte Humidity Dew Poir	rior TH Feb 1 Kelunji. Nt (F) 30.92 31.60	1-May11.bxt. Sample : Dat 2/25/201: 2/25/201:	Inter 4
Preview of 1 LTH: 2 Samp 4 5	tatrow: of file C:\Us Interic # I 1	1 ers\Tom\Dc r TH Fek 'emp (F) 55.04 55.53 II	File grigin: comments\2010-11 cil-May11; Te Humidity	437:OE Work\kelunji mperature (%RH) 39.55 39.94	M United Stat echop\Inte Humidity Dew Poir	rior TH Feb 1 Kelunji. nt (F) 30.92 31.60	1-May11.bxt. Sample : Dat 2/25/201: 2/25/201:	Inter e 1 1

Figure 30: Excel Text Import Wizard with Correct Options Highlighted

his screen lets y nes with arrows	ou set field v signify a col	vidths (colum umn break.	in breaks).				
To CREATE a To DELETE a To MOVE a b	break line, c break line, de reak line, did	lick at the de ouble click on k and drag it.	sired position. the line.				
)ata preview							
Data greview		0	60 . 7	0 80	90	100	-4
Data preview 40 emperature	Humidity	50 Kelunji.	60 7	0 80 erval Is 1	90 Hrs. Logg	100 ing Started	
Data preview 40 emperature y (%RH)	Humidity Dew Poi	0 Kelunji. nt (F)	60 7 Sample Int	0 80 erval Is 1 Time	90 Hrs. Logg	100 ing Started	 λ1 ^
Data preview 40 emperature y (%RH) 39.55	Humidity Dew Poi	0 Kelunji. nt (F) 30.92	60 7 Sample Int Date 2/25/2011	0 80 erval Is 1 Time 11:56 AD	90 Hrs. Logg	100 ing Started	Al A
Ata greview 40 emperature y (%RH) 39.55 39.94	Humidity Dew Poi	0 Kelunji. nt (F) 30.92 31.60	60 7 Sample Int Date 2/25/2011 2/25/2011	0 80 erval Is 1 Tim 11:56 AJ 12:56 PJ	90 Hrs. Logg	100 ing Started	

Figure 31: Excel Text Import for SUPCO data

\*\*Note: Figure 32 and

Figure 34 show the empty and completed templates respectively. These figures should be referenced as needed.

 Copy all of the columns of data from the hourly\_averages excel document. Paste this data into the section titled "Paste EchoPro Values Below" and labeled by the number 2. Pasting, as shown in Figure 32, is accomplished by right clicking and selecting paste – values.



Figure 32: Correctly Pasting Values into the Template



Figure 33: Long Term Template with Important Regions Numbered



Figure 34: Long Term Template with Data Inputted

- 4. **Repeat** step 3 for the internal SUPCO values in region 3 and the external SUPCO values in region 4. All the necessary data should now be within the template file.
- Look at the indicator column for the internal SUPCO data. Scroll down in the document and find the first value of "1" in a given cell. Highlight all of the data within the green fields above this row.
- 6. Press the **Delete** key (not the excel function), then copy the remaining data in the fields from the first indicator down to the end.

7. Paste (values) into the top of the green area (row 7). Delete data below this pasted region.
\*\*Note: This step should line up the beginning time of the Kelunji EchoPro data with the temperature and humidity data. To check this, compare the date and time for the first EchoPro row and the first SUPCO row. If they are within a few hours of each other, this is sufficient for the long term plots.

- 8. Repeat Steps 4 through 7 for the external SUPCO data.
- 9. Input the conversion factor for the crack gauges in the upper left hand corner of the document. The factor should be in Volts/inch. This ensures that the data is converted to engineering units correctly. This factor can be found in the specs for the crack sensors.
- 10. Click the view tab on the top menu bar and choose the Macros button, which is annotated by the number 5 in Figure 33.
- 11. Select View Macros
- 12. Choose the macro **Y\_axis** and click **Run**, shown in Figure 35.

Macro		? x
Macro name	:	
Y_axis		Run
GraphTitles Y_axis		Step Into
		Edit
		Create
		Delete
	-	Options
M <u>a</u> cros in: Description	All Open Workbooks	
		Cancel

Figure 35: Long Term Template Macro Window with Annotated Selections

X   📕	5 - 6	× ]≂						I	ong term t	emplate	- Microso	ft Excel					_ 0 _ X	
File	Hor	ne Inse	rt Page	Layout	Formulas	Data Re	view	/iew								۵	() – d <sup>2</sup> 1	23
Normal	Page Layout W	Page Break Preview orkbook Vie	Custom Views So ws	Full Full	Z Ruler S	] Formula Bar ] Headings w	Zoom	100% Zoom Select	to Nev ion Wind	w Arra low A	nge Freez II Panes	Split View Side by Side Hide \$\$ Synchronous Scrolling Unhide Reset Window Position Window	Save Workspace	Switch ce Windows	Macros Macros			
	01	•	6	f <sub>x</sub>														~
	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	н		1	J	к		L	М	N	0	F
1 2					A							В					;	
3		с	rack Move	ement (I	VDT) Y-axis	imits		X-Axis				Graph Titles						
4		Range	Rounded	Abs-Va	lue Graph Lii	nits Major Un	it	Scale (E	ays)		Chart	Title						
5		868	900	900	900	45	0		2		1	Long Term Response - Crack 1						
6		-781	-800	800	-900	45	0				2	Long Term Response - Crack 2						
7											3	Long Term Response - Crack 3						
8											4	Long Term Response - Crack 4						
9			Temp Da	ta (SUPC	CO) Y-axis Lii	nits					5	Long Term Response - Crack 5						
10		Internal	External	Tota	l Graph Lii	nits Major Un	it				5	Long Term Response - Crack 6						
11		72.4	71.2	72.4	80.0	12.	5				7	Long Term Response - Crack 1						
12		66.1	33.5	33.5	30.0	12.	5				В	Long Term Response - Crack 2						
13											Э	Interior Temperature						
14											10	Interior Humidity						
15		H	lumidity D	Data (SU	PCO) Y-axis I	imits					11	External Temperature						
16		Internal	External	Tota	l Graph Lii	nits Major Un	it				12	External Humidity						
17		43.5	98.9	98.9	100.0	20.	0				13	Long Term Response - Crack 1						
18		34.4	30.0	30.0	20.0	20.	0				14	Long Term Response - Crack 2						
19											15	Long Term Response - Crack 3						
20											16	Long Term Response - Crack 4						
21											17	Interior Temperature						
22											18	Interior Humidity						
23																		
24																		
25																		
26																		۲
27																		÷
H + F	MZ	Graphs Char	nnels 1-6	2 Grag	ohs_All-T&H	4 Graphs_Se	lect-T&H	Graph O	otions 🧷	Summai	y Table 🔬	€ / I .		<u> </u>			▶ [	
Ready	Calcula	te 🛅			(6) Window	vs Explorer									100	% 🖂 🚽	-0	Ð

13. Switch to the fifth spreadsheet tab titled Graph Options shown in Figure 36



14. The graphs should be **renamed** with specific information about the given channel and should include the **crack monitored**. Also, the specific graph scaling can be manually altered in this tab if the automatic scaling did not produce the desired result.

**\*\*Note:** If the user decides to manually scale the x-axis or y-axis by entering numbers, the automatic calculations that provided the initial ranges for it will be lost. However, manual scaling can often improve the plots from their initial scaling. Further instruction on manually scaling the axes in the templates is provided in Appendix I.

#### 15. Repeat steps 11 and 12 with the macro X\_axis and GraphTitles

**\*\*Note:** Tabs two, three, and four display plots of the data. The second tab displays all of the crack channels while the third and fourth tabs have selected crack channels with temperature and humidity data. The selected cracks in the third and fourth tabs can be changed by the user. The process will be outlined in steps 16-19.

- 16. Left-Click on the graph to be altered.
- 17. Navigate to the Design tab of the menu bar and click Select Data.
- 18. Select the data series and click edit, as shown in Figure 37.

Chart data range: =Datal\$A\$6:\$A\$707,Datal\$A	E\$6:\$AE\$707	
	itch Row/Column	
egend Entries (Series)	Horizontal (Category) Axis Labels	5
Add	▼ Z Edit	
Channel 1	4/13/11 16:32	
	4/13/11 17:32	1
	4/13/11 18:32	
	4/13/11 19:32	
	4/40/44 00 00	

Figure 37: Accessing the Data Source Selection for a Plot

19. In the menu shown in Figure 38, change the number after the word channel to the desired channel source in the Series Y values selection box. For Example, Change Channel\_1 to Channel\_3. Click OK.

8 X
= Channel 1
= 4/13/11 16:32,
= 199.209, 240.8
Cancel

Figure 38: Changing the Crack Channel for a Plot

**\*\*Note:** The adjustments to graph sources should not switch graphs from crack movement to the temperature or humidity or vice versa due to the background processes creating the plots.

20. Select the sixth tab, titled Summary Table, shown in Figure 39.

1	a cu	Calibri - 11	- A A = =	s 💼 🕸	🔐 Wrap Te	xt	General	,
Pas	ite Con	mst Painter B I U - E -	<u>ð • A</u> • ■ ■	1 作作	Merge &	Center -	\$ - %	, .0 .00 , 00, 00,
	Clipboar	d 12 Font	19	Alignme	ent	5	Num	ber
	L27	• (* fx						
4	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	н
1		Title						
2		Date	D	escription				
3				1.251				
4		Kelunji EchoF	ro					
5	Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
6	1	Crack Response - Channel 1	0	0	μ-in			
7	2	Crack Response - Channel 2	0	0	µ-in			
8	3	Crack Response - Channel 3	0	0	µ-in			
9	4	Crack Response - Channel 4	0	0	µ-in			
10	5	Crack Response - Channel 5	0	0	μ-in			
11	6	Crack Response - Channel 6	0	0	μ-in			
12	-	Interior SUPCO Temperature a	ind Humidity Logg	jer	1			
13	Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
14	Temp	Interior remperature	0.000	0.000	e/			
15	Hum	Exterior SUBCO Temporat	uro and Humidity	0.000	70			
17	Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
18	Temn	External Temperature	0.000	0.000	°E			
19	Hum	External Humidity	0.000	0.000	%			
20								
21								
22								
23								
24								
25								
26								
27								

Figure 39: Long Term Template Summary Table

- 21. Fill in the title, date, and description fields at the top of the table for the event.
- 22. Add a **description** for each channel in the corresponding fields.

\*\*Note: The template is fully completed. Unless further changes are desired, continue to steps23 a-c to print the outputs or 23 d-f to export the outputs to a word processing document.

- 23. Printing or Moving Outputs.
  - a. Select the tab to be printed.
  - b. Go to File and select Print.
  - c. Make sure Print Active Sheets and the correct printer are selected and click print.

OR

- d. Highlight the plot or table, right click, and select copy.
- e. Open Microsoft Word or another word processing program.
- f. Right Click and Select Paste.

**\*\*Note: Sample Outputs** of the plots and the summary table can be viewed in the **Reports** section of the User manual. The x-axis scaling was changed to two days in these plots.

# -Dynamic Excitation Procedure

1. Start Microsoft Excel

c.

- 2. Locate and Open the following files. For each file, select fixed width in the text input wizard shown in Figure 40 and click finish.
  - a. Selected dynamic event (Kelunji EchoPro burst files in folder on desktop, labeled by date and time of event)
  - b. External sensor data (LARCOR Compliance Seismograph data saved to desktop)

**\*\*Note:** Events that don't trigger the external system won't have data from the LARCOR.

	lext Wizard	has determine	d that your data is	Fixed Width.				
If thi	is is correct,	choose Next,	or <mark>cho</mark> ose the data	type that best	t describes your	data.		
Orig	ginal <mark>d</mark> ata typ	e						
Che	oose the file	type that bes	t describes your da	ta:				
	O Delimited	d - Chara	cters such as comm	as or tabs sepa	arate each field			
1	Fixed wi	dth - Fields	are aligned in colum	ns with spaces	between each	field.		
-	<u> </u>	i J	7	\$				
				1.1.1				
Ctort	timport at ro	4	Eile origina	427.0	M Lipited State	-		
Start	t import at <u>r</u> o	w: 1	File origin:	437 : OE	EM United State	S		
Start Pre	t import at <u>r</u> o eview of file (	w: 1 C:\Users\Tom\	File origin:	437 : OE 1 Work\kelunji	EM United State	s or TH Feb 1	1-May11.t	xt.
Start Pre	t import at <u>r</u> o eview of file ( LTH: Inte	w: 1 C:\Users\Tom\ erior TH F	File grigin: Pocuments\2010-1	437 : OE 1 Work kelunji emperature	EM United State echop\Interi Humidity I	s or TH Feb1 Kelunji.	1-May11.t Sample	xt.
Start Pre	t import at <u>r</u> o eview of file ( LTH: Inte Samp #	w: 1 C:\Users\Tom erior TH F Temp (F	File origin: Documents \2010-1 eb11-May11; T ) Humidit	437 : OE 1 Work kelunji emperature y (%RH)	EM United State echop\Interi Humidity I Dew Point	s or TH Feb1 Kelunji. : (F)	1-May11.t Samplo	xt. e Intes
Pre	timportatro eview of file ( LTH: Inte Samp # 0	w: 1 C:\Users\Tom erior TH F Temp (F 55.0	File origin: Documents\2010-1 eb11-May11; T ) Humidit 4	437:OE 1 Work kelunji emperature y (%RH) 39.55	EM United State echop\Interi Humidity I Dew Point	s for TH Feb1 (elunji. : (F) 80.92	1-May11.t Samplo 2/25/20	xt. e Intes ate 011
Pre	timportatro eview of file ( LTH: Inte Samp # 0 1	w: 1 C:\Users\Tom' erior TH F Temp (F 55.0 55.5	File grigin: Documents\2010-1 eb11-May11; T ) Humidit 4 3	437:OE 1 Work \kelunji emperature y (%RH) 39.55 39.94	EM United State echop\Interi Humidity H Dew Point	s or TH Feb1 (elunji. ; (F) 30.92 31.60	1-May11.t Samplo 2/25/20 2/25/20	xt. e Intes ate 011 011
Pre	timportatro	w: 1 C:\Users\Tom' erior TH F Temp (F 55.0 55.5	File grigin: Documents\2010-1 eb11-May11; T ) Humidit 4 3 III	437:OE 1 Work \kelunji emperature y (%RH) 39.55 39.94	EM United State echop\Interi Humidity I Dew Point	s or TH Feb1 Kelunji. : (F) 30.92 31.60	1-May11.t Samplo D 2/25/2 2/25/2	xt. e Inter oll 011

Figure 40: Excel Text Import Wizard with Correct Options Highlighted

**\*\*Note**: Figure 42 and Figure 43 show the empty and completed templates respectively. These figures should be referenced as needed.

Copy all of the output data from the selected dynamic event excel document. This data starts at the 85<sup>th</sup> row of columns B through columns M. Paste this data into the section titled "Paste EchoPro Values Below", labeled by the number 2. Pasting, as shown in Figure 41, is accomplished by right clicking and selecting paste – values.

4/13/11.16	23 ADEEDA1 E712772 2641460 414	1561	3863401	3672607
4/13/1	Cut	515	3863103	3672409
4/13/1	Copy	145	3863387	3672754
4/13/1	Coby	259	3863522	3672759
4/13/1	Paste Options:	436	3864238	3672090
4/13/1	A 123 £ # %	711	3864435	3671598
4/13/1		889	3864801	3671749
4/13/1	Paste Special	575	3865454	3670439
4/14/		893	3866169	3671066
4/14/	Insert Copied Cells	227	3866670	3673113
4/14/	Delete	366	3867340	3674494
4/14/	<u></u>	133	3867609	3675256
4/14/	Clear Contents	846	3867185	3677565

Figure 41: Correctly Pasting Values into the Template



Figure 42: Dynamic Template with Important Regions Numbered

	Home	Insert	Page	Lavout	Formu	ulas	Data Revis	w Vi	ew	renation	anaiys	s-samp	e piast -	wirefosol	- Licel									۵ 🕜 د	- 6
¥ ¢	Lut	Ca	libri	,	11 -	A A	= = =		= Wn	ap Text		General					2			*		Σ Auto	Sum - 🛔	7 4	4
	Copy *	в	7.1		1-10	- A -		ale al	-	ine & Cer	oter -			90, 9,	Conditi	onal Fo	ermat	Cell	Insert	Delete I	ormat	🛃 Fill •	- Se	ort & Find	d Q
I F	Format Pa	ainter						1 17 17		ge or cer			M 7	0.00	Formatt	ing * as 1	Table *	Styles *	v	*	٠	2 Clea	f Fi	ter* Sele	et *
Clipbo	bard			Font				Align	ment			N	umber			Styl				Cells			Editin	2	
12	2			f <sub>x</sub>																					
A	B	С	D	в	F	G	н	J	K	L	м	N	0	P	Q	B	\$	T	U	۲		w.	×	Y	
	Conversi	ion Factors							Pre-Trigg	er Buffer															
EchoPr	O LYDT (Y	(oltslinch)	100	_				Kelunj	EchoPro	1 :	second(s														
no Pro	Geophone	e (Voksňnés)	0.7					LA	RCOR	1 1	second(s	1													
-	_			Date	to Febra	Ire Vela	os Beleur	_	_	_			Dec	to LARC	COR Male	tes Bels	-2.72	Min	56585.824	45] 551.	5.315	42446.2501	48760,7955	48137.75	i.
	(1)		Ct	Pasi	Ce Echor	PTO Val	es below				A	i dana	Pas	LE DARC	ORVal	Jes Ber	, w	h former	Chan 14			Ch	(h	Church C	
0.001	4757511	SE2585	3645163	4107343	3829075	3671134	292	11 .68	6 183	.54	226	R	0.001953	- 100	0.02	0.02	0.02	INDICATOR	56713.95	06 6705	7 1923	41456 1122	48961744	45526.92	
0.002	4757536	5625178	3645387	4107425	3019006	3671085	718	21 -71	5 967	-852	212	3	0.003906	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56714.23	67 6705	7.3473 4	43456.3994	48964.3216	45526.09	횖
0.003	4757593	5625181	3645408	4107465	3818952	3671071	656	-75	8 151	-142	232	7	0.005859	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56714.921	82 6705	7.3831 4	43456.6498	48964.7985	45525.45	डी
0.004	4757550	5625100	0645463	4107499	2010066	3671065	623	35 -79	6 130	-344	276	4	0.007812	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56714.41	56 6705	6.4175 4	43457.3054	48965,2038	45524.437	.00
0.005	4757490	5625038	3645463	4107573	3818815	3671077	619	33 -80	7 \$32	-152	278	0	0.009766	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56713.70	6705	5.6784 4	43457.3054	48966.0855	45523.822	2
0.006	4757603	5625107	3645428	4107538	3818805	3671058	598	58 -61	4 123	-154	277	7	0.011719	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56715.043	74 6705	6.5009 4	43456.8882	4(9(5.6(3)	45523.70	di
0.007	4757704	5625%6	3645486	4107495	3899789	3679030	560 1	98 -83	2 111	-156	283	2	0.013672	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		567%25	14 6705	7.2042 4	43457.5796	48965.556	45523.51	24
0.008	4757800	5625228	3645497	4107460	3818790	3671002	496	41 -83	9 97	-166	286	9	0.015625	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56717.395	58 6705	7.9433	43457.7107	46964.7386	45523.524	43
0.009	4757887	5625297	3645502	4107455	3818731	3671070	398 1	32 -83	4 71	-153	287	6	0.017578	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56718.433	29 6705	8.7659 4	13457.7703	48954.6792	45522.820	29
0.01	4757954	5625283	3645446	4107456	20201234	3679093	207 1	N -01	7 46	-149	292		0.019531	100	0.02	0.02	0.02		56718.754	40 670	0.3414	43457.9028	40364.6312	45522,431	왉
0.042	47677007	6620200	1040102	4107455	30107.34	3071130		17 .76	1 35	-190	209	0	0.021404		0.02	0.02	0.02		06718.071	03 6700	7.5219	10406.0000	40300.0720	45522.000	븱
0.012	4757669	5625223	1045120	4107410	3899774	3671190	-145 1	10 .76	7 .8	-149	107		0.025294		0.02	0.02	0.02		56716.40	41 6705	7.68177	43455 6723	403641732	45523.32	갉
0.014	4757611	5625238	3645378	4107378	3818793	3671202	-269	36 -7	11 -23	-146	299	3	0.027344	- ē	0.02	0.02	0.02		56715.14	27 6705	8.0387 4	43456.2922	48963.7613	455237	촯
0.015	4757592	5625231	3645434	4107392	3819794	3671169	-451	-68	2 -29	-152	277	2	0.029297	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56714.91	62 6705	7.9791 4	43456.9597	48963.9282	45523.457	a
0.016	4757681	5625237	3645486	4107354	3818786	3671142	-625	64	4 -53	-857	258	8	0.03125	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56715.973	72 6705	8.0506 4	43457.5796	48963.4762	45523.476	66
0.017	4757713	5625133	3645563	4107371	3818782	3671143	-618	12 -61	5 -63	-146	241	9	0.033203		0.02	0.02	0.02		56716.351	87 6705	6.8109 4	43458.4975	48963.6775	45523,428	19
0.018	4757700	5625051	3645597	4107392	3898849	3671140	-938	17 -57	2 -77	-150	219	6	0.035156	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		567% 203	37 67057	5.8333 4	43458.9028	40963.9202	45524.227	18
0.019	4757637	5624986	3645635	4107380	3818856	3671180	-1072	14 -54	-80	-149	215	7	0.037109	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56715.45	27 67052	5.0585 4	43459.3558	46963.7652	45524.31	-
0.02	4757631	5625001	3645627	4107396	3818901	3671162	-1120	32 -48	7 -98	-152	255	5	0.039063	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56715.33	87052	5,2373 4	13459.2605	48963.9759	45524.843	75
0.021	6757767	5625058	0045673	4107359	3010036	3671173	-1151	10 40	-93	-156	270		0.0410%	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56717.003	6705	0.9960 4	12450.0000	40964.0117	45524.783	셁
0.022	4767820	6625133	3040/12	4107348	201005002	36711/0	-11.24	10 40		-147	274		0.042363		0.02	0.02	0.02		66717.63	6705	0.093 4	10400.2737	40003.4037	45025.338	20
0.024	4757715	5625390	2645710	4107359	3811014	3671222	-1067	10 4	05	-150	203	1	0.046875		0.02	0.02	0.02		56715.7	17 \$705	7.5457 4	43460.2499	40363.0461	45526.08	릙
0.025	4757787	5625207	3645622	4107356	3819008	3671203	-1034 1	15 -40	2 -103	-149	289	0	0.048828		0.02	0.02	0.02		56717.24	08 670	57.693 4	43459,2009	48963.499	45526.1	ä
0.028	4757749	5625240	3645604	4107379	3819012	3671205	-963	12 -39	6 -108	-155	292	4	0.050781	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56716.78	78 67052	3.0964 4	43458,9863	48963.7732	45526.17	請
0.027	4757745	5625262	3645569	4107350	3819033	3671205	-871 1	24 -40	1 -127	-857	292	4	0.052734	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56716.74	01 6705	8.3487	43458.569	48963.4275	45526.42	iii
850.0	4757872	5625294	3645561	4107313	3819034	3671220	-754	10 -41	2 -128	-176	309	B	0.054688	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56718.25	41 6705	8.7301 4	43458.4737	48952.3865	45526.47	23
0.029	4758011	5625278	3645524	4107251	3819042	3671211	-643	90 -40	6 -542	-152	334	1	0.056641	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56719.9	111 6705	1.5394 4	43458.0326	48962.2474	45526.52	14
0.03	4758112	5625286	3645507	4107257	3819027	3671232	-517	96 -41	2 -155	-148	319	8	0.059594	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56721.11	6705	8.6348	43457.83	48562.3185	45526.345	35
0.031	4758184	5625286	3645486	4107315	3819002	3671366	-398	33 -43	6 -173	-140	231	H I	0.060547	0	0.02	0.02	0.02		56721.97	34 8705	3.6348 4	13457.5796	48963.0903	45526.05	.5
0.032	6/56226	5625293	3645410	4107367	3019000	3671388	-254	-44	-109	-952	273		0.0625		0.02	0.02	0.02		56/22.45	6705	0.6004	43456.769	40363.6302	40026.623	쁡
0.033	9108233	0620308	3645370	*#07396	3019025	30/1353	-m/	12 -41	1 -204	-941	246	2	1 0.064453		0.02	0.02	0.02	1000	06722.31	iail 6100	0.935	#1#00.7968	40363.3703	+99028.325	21

Figure 43: Dynamic Template with Data Inputted

- 4. **Paste** the LARCOR data in region 3. Make sure to delete all columns except acoustic (dB), radial (in/s), vertical (in/s), transverse (in/s) by right clicking and selecting delete, then delete entire column before transferring the data.
- 5. If LARCOR data is available, follow steps 6-13. If it is not, skip to step 14.
- 6. Look at the **indicator** column for the LARCOR data and the Kelunji data. **Scroll** down in the document and find the first value of "1" in each cell. **Record** the time value on the same row as each indicator at the top of the document in cells L2 and L3.
- 7. **Calculate** the difference between cell L2 minus cell L3 and multiply by 1,000. This is the number of rows of EchoPro data that must be **eliminated** to plot the data correctly.
- 8. **Delete** all the EchoPro data from the template (with the keyboard key, not the excel delete function)
- 9. Return to the **dynamic data** excel document that was opened from the text file.
- 10. **Delete** the first "X" rows of data, based on the calculation in **step 7** by **highlighting** this data, right clicking, selecting **delete**, and selecting option **shift rows up**. When highlighting the data, the number of rows and columns selected is shown by a **small box** adjacent to the cursor (For example, it will show 36R x 12 C if you highlight 36 rows and 12 columns).
- 11. **Re-copy** the remaining data back into the excel template in region 2.
- 12. **Check** the indicator column for the Kelunji data. The time value of this row should **equal** the time value from the LARCOR data in cell L2.
- 13. Replace the number in cell L3 with the new time value.
- **\*\*Note:** These steps should line up the Kelunji EchoPro data with the LARCOR data for plotting.
- 14. Input the conversion factor for the crack and velocity sensors in the upper left hand corner of the document. These factors should be in Volts/inch and Volts/inch/second respectively. This ensures that the data is converted to engineering units correctly.
- 15. Click the view tab on the top menu bar and choose the Macros button, which is annotated by the number 5 in Figure 33.
- 16. Select View Macros
- 17. Choose the macro **Y\_axis** and click **Run**, shown in Figure 44.
- 18. **Repeat** steps 16 and 17 for the macro **X\_axis**.

GraphTitle	5	Eun Run
GraphTitle X_Axis	5	1 Step Into
r axis		Edit
		Create
		Delete
		- Options
M <u>a</u> cros in:	All Open Workbooks	
escription) Automation template	cally titles charts within dynamic e based on cells in first sheet.	excitation analysis
		Cancel

Figure 44: Dynamic Excitation Template Macro Window with Annotated Selections

- New ▼ Fo Q 110 🔤 Spli 🗵 Ruler Hide Page Page Break Custom avout Preview Views Full Gridlines 🔽 Headings 100% Arrange All Freeze Panes + 🛄 Unhid Zoom to Selection নান চ W37 f<sub>x</sub> 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 ani 🛚 🗘 🕨 Data 🖉 Crack Response 🧹 Interior Trigger 🦯 Exterior Trigger 🦯 Displacement 🏑 Relative Displacement 🗍 Graph Options 🖉 Summary Table 🏸
- 19. Switch to the **seventh** spreadsheet tab titled **Graph Options** shown in Figure 45.

Figure 45: Dynamic Excitation Template Graph Options Annotated by Letter

20. The graphs should be **renamed** with specific information about the given channel and should include what is being monitored. Also, the specific graph scaling can be manually altered in this tab if the automatic scaling did not produce the desired result.

**\*\*Note:** If the user decides to manually scale the graphs by entering numbers, the automatic calculations that provided the initial ranges will be lost. However, manual scaling can often improve the plots from their initial scaling. Further instruction on manually scaling the axes in the templates is provided in Appendix I.

- 21. Re-open the Macros window with the same method as in steps 16 and 17.
- 22. Choose the macro **GraphTitles** and click **Run**.

**\*\*Note:** Tabs two through six display plots of the data. The second tab displays all of the crack channels while the third through sixth tabs have selected channels for the output types. The output channels in the third through sixth tabs can be changed by the user. The process will be outlined in steps 23-29.

- 23. Left-Click on the graph to be altered.
- 24. Navigate to the Design tab of the menu bar and click Select Data.
- 25. Select the data series and click edit, as shown in Figure 46.

Select Data Source	8 ×
Chart data range: =Data!\$A\$6:\$A\$707,Data!\$AE\$6:\$	AE\$707
Legend Entries (Series)	Row/Column
Add C Edit X Remove	Edit
Channel 1	4/13/11 16:32 4/13/11 17:32
	4/13/11 18:32
	4/13/11 19:32
	4/13/11 20:32 👻
Hidden and Empty Cells	OK Cancel

Figure 46: Accessing the Data Source Selection for a Plot

26. In the menu shown in Figure, change the number after the word channel to the desired channel source in the **Series Y values** selection box. For Example, Change Channel\_1 to Channel\_3 or Channel7\_Disp to Channel10\_Disp. Click **OK**.

Series <u>n</u> ame:		
=Data!\$AI\$6	Channel 1	
Series <u>X</u> values:		
='dynamic excitation analysis - sam	/sis - samt 🔣 🛛 = 0.001, 0.002,	
Series <u>Y</u> values:		
lysis - sample blast.xlsm' Channel_1	= -335.015, -334	
OK	Cancel	

Figure 47: Changing the Channel for a Plot

**\*\*Note:** The adjustments to graph sources should not switch graphs from different types of channel sources, such as crack sensor data to velocity sensor data or displacement data, due to the background processes creating the plots of each type.

27. **(optional)** Changing the relative displacement graph can be achieved by changing the excel formula in the first tab of the template. Each cell has the formula:

IF(AQ#="","",IF(AR#="","",AR#-AQ#))

- 28. **(optional)** To change the two channels used to calculate relative displacement, replace AR and AQ in the first relative displacement cell (AV7)with the column headings of the selected channels and hit enter.
- 29. **(optional)** Select the first cell (AV7) and double click the small box that appears in the bottom right corner. This will replace all the cells with the relative displacement of the selected channels.

- 4	A	В	С	D	E	F	
1	Title						
2		Date	Description				
З							
4	Kelunji EchoPro						
5	Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit		
6	1	Crack Response - Channel 1	190	-463	μ-in		
7	2	Crack Response - Channel 2	562	-1111	μ-in		
8	з	Crack Response - Channel 3	8	-11	μ-in		
9	4	Crack Response - Channel 4	164	-136	μ-in		
10	5	Crack Response - Channel 5	247	-237	μ-in		
11	6	Crack Response - Channel 6	84	-400	µ-in		
12	7	Structural Response - Channel 7	1.64	-1.36	in/s		
13	8	Structural Response - Channel 8	0.43	-0.48	in/s		
14	9	Structural Response - Channel 9	0.94	-0.71	in/s		
15	10	Structural Response - Channel 10	0.58	-0.74	in/s		
16	11	Structural Response - Channel 11	0.00	0.00	in/s		
17	12	Trigger Signal - Channel 12	5.03	0.00	Volts		
18	18 LARCOR Seismograph						
19	Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit		
20	A	Air Blast	112	0	Decibels		
21	R	Radial Ground Motion	2.12	-1.82	in/s		
22	v	Vertical Ground Motion	2.48	-1.86	in/s		
23	Т	Transverse Ground Motion	2.8	-2.72	in/s		
24	Displacement						
25	Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit		
26	7	Absolute Displacement - Channel 7	0.175	-0.219	milli-in		
27	8	Absolute Displacement - Channel 8	0.091	-0.072	milli-in		
28	9	Absolute Displacement - Channel 9	0.140	-0.141	milli-in		
29	10	Absolute Displacement - Channel 10	0.053	-0.057	milli-in		
30	11	Absolute Displacement - Channel 11	0.000	0.000	milli-in		
31	Ch9 - Ch8	Relative Displacement (Ch 9 - Ch8)	0.186	-0.203	milli-in		
32							
_					1		

30. Select the eight tab, titled Summary Table, shown in Figure 48.

Figure 48: Dynamic Excitation Template Summary Table

31. Fill in the title, date, and description fields at the top of the table for the event.

32. Add a **description** for each channel in the corresponding fields.

**\*\*Note:** The template is fully completed. Unless further changes are desired, continue to steps

33 a-c to print the outputs or 33 d-f to export the outputs to a word processing document.

33. Printing or Moving Outputs.

- a. Select the tab to be printed.
- b. Go to File and select Print.
- c. Make sure Print Active Sheets and the correct printer are selected and click print.

#### OR

- d. Select the group of plots or the table, right click, and select copy.
- e. Open Microsoft Word or another word processing program.
- f. Right Click and Select Paste.

**\*\*Note: Sample Outputs** of the plots and the summary table can be viewed in the **Reports** section of the User manual.

# **Generating Output Reports**

#### Objective

Data collected from the EchoPro recorder must be presented in a graphical manner that is both coherent and simple to be able to emphasize the areas of importance. The excel templates discussed in the user manual and Appendix I generate output graphs and tables that can serve as the backbone of a report. This section will discuss the important considerations of reporting on the data and show the correct tables and plots created from both the long term and dynamic excitation templates sample data

#### **Report Considerations**

Writing a report on a deployment period or an event is vital to communicating and explaining crack response. Important considerations of these reports include: general deployment information, sensor information, event information, and formatting.

The general information should consist of the purpose of deployment, the time period, the location of the system and its relative location to important external activities, and the individuals or organizations monitoring the system. This information should be incorporated early on to provide the general context of the data collected.

Information about the sensors should be detailed as thoroughly as possible in the report prior to discussing the results. This should involve sensor orientation, sensor type, sensor location, and what is being monitored. The channel number and serial number can help organize these facts. A figure or figures should be employed to visually describe the location of the sensors within the test site.

Before illustrating the output tables or plots from the excel templates, the event or recording should be described. This description should include the event type (long term or burst event), event data and time, what triggered the system (if applicable), and as much additional detail as possible. After this is complete, the summary table and selected graphs should be added to highlight the results of the event.

Formatting of a report is significant in helping to communicate effectively the ideas within. This includes section headings, graph and table titles, and consistent fonts and line spacing. The headings are important to divide the report up for the reader and the graph and table titles help to clarify the context of the output data.

36
## Long Term Template Outputs

#### The long term template automatically generates a summary table and plots within Microsoft Excel.

Table 1 is an example from the long term template. The top cells provide spaces to include a table name, the recording period, and descriptions of the data collected. The descriptions of each sensor should be modified to be as specific as possible, especially in regard to sensor location. The table displays the maximum and minimum ranges of the data as well as the units for these values. The table aggregates data collected from both the EchoPro recorder and the SUPCO temperature and humidity loggers

Figure 49 is an example of one of the plots that can be produced automatically. The channels plotted and their scaling can be adjusted within the template. Depending on the report, all the plots may be included or only specific ones may be necessary. Specific plots can be chosen based on the type of event and the response of each sensor.

Long Term Sample Data		Sample Long Term Data to Check the					
	4/13/11 - 4/17/11	Process Outlined by the User Manual					
Kelunji EchoPro							
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
1	Response - Crack 1	360	-637	μ-in			
2	Response - Crack 2	868	-781	μ-in			
3	Response - Crack 3	24	-36	μ-in			
4	Response - Crack 4	146	-266	μ-in			
5	Response - Crack 5	200	-210	μ-in			
6	Response - Crack 6	81	-115	μ-in			
	Interior SUPCO Temperature a	nd Humidity Logge	er				
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
Temp	Interior Temperature	72.430	66.080	°F			
Hum	Interior Humidity	43.500	34.400	%			
	Exterior SUPCO Temperatu	ure and Humidity L	.ogger				
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
Temp	External Temperature	71.222	33.494	°F			
Hum	External Humidity	98.886	29.989	%			

#### Table 1: Sample Long Term Output Table







Figure 50: Long Term Crack Movements with SUPCO Data from Template Sample Data Set – Tab 4

# **Dynamic Excitation Template Outputs**

Similar to the long term template outputs, the dynamic excitation template automatically generates a summary table and plots. Table 2 is an example of the completed table. The table aggregates data collected from both the EchoPro recorder and the LARCOR compliance seismograph.

Figure 51 is an example of one of the plots that can be produced automatically. As with the long term template, the channels plotted and their scaling can be adjusted within the template and the plots selected should be based on the report type, the event type, and the response of each channel.

C	Dynamic Excitation Sample Data Sample Dynamic Excitation Data to Check the Sample Dynamic Excitation Dynamic Excitation Data to Check the Sample Dynamic Excitation Dynamic Excitation Data to Check the Sample Dynamic Excitation Data to Check the Sample Dynamic Excitation Dynamic Exci						
	April 20th 2011 09:53	Process Outlined by the User Manual					
	Kelunji E	choPro					
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
1	Crack Response - Channel 1	425	-228	μ-in			
2	Crack Response - Channel 2	702	-971	μ-in			
3	Crack Response - Channel 3	7	-11	μ-in			
4	Crack Response - Channel 4	126	-174	μ-in			
5	Crack Response - Channel 5	157	157 -327 μ-in				
6	Crack Response - Channel 6 187 -274		μ-in				
7	Structural Response - Channel 7	1.64	-1.36	in/s			
8	Structural Response - Channel 8	0.43	-0.48	in/s			
9	Structural Response - Channel 9	0.94	-0.71	in/s			
10	Structural Response - Channel 10	0.58	-0.74	in/s			
11	Structural Response - Channel 11	0.00	0.00	in/s			
12	Trigger Signal - Channel 12	5.03	0.00	Volts			
	LARCOR Seismogra	ph					
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
А	Air Blast	112	0	Decibels			
R	Radial Ground Motion	2.12	-1.82	in/s			
V	Vertical Ground Motion	2.48	-1.86	in/s			
Т	Transverse Ground Motion	2.8	-2.72	in/s			
	Displacement						
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit			
7	Absolute Displacement - Channel 7	0.175	-0.219	milli-in			
8	Absolute Displacement - Channel 8	0.091	-0.072	milli-in			
9	Absolute Displacement - Channel 9	0.140	-0.141	milli-in			
10	Absolute Displacement - Channel 10	0.053	-0.057	milli-in			
11	Absolute Displacement - Channel 11	0.000	0.000	milli-in			
Ch9 -							
Ch8	Relative Displacement (Ch 9 - Ch8)	0.186	-0.203	milli-in			

Table 2: Sample Dynamic Excitation Output Table







Figure 52: Sample Dynamic Excitation Plots - Tab 4

# **Appendices**

# Appendix A - Kelunji EchoPro Recording Unit

# Objective

This appendix describes the configuration of the Kelunji EchoPro unit to measure crack and structural response. Operating instructions and technical descriptions can be found in the Kelunji user manual, which can be obtained from the following link: <a href="http://customer.esands.com/index.php?section=45">http://customer.esands.com/index.php?section=45</a>

#### Setup

In order to configure the EchoPro recording system to monitor long term and dynamic data, the unit must be programmed for the proper sampling rate and processes, and have a large source of data storage.

#### -Sampling

The EchoPro records all of its processes with the same underlying sample rate. For dynamic events, it is important that the sample rate be set as high as possible for the highest detail of the event. Therefore, 1000 Hz (samples per second, sps) is the recommended sampling rate for the recorder. This rate will ensure that any reasonable triggered recording will be precisely recorded. While 2000 sps is possible, 1000 sps has been chosen at this time because of data recording constraints.

#### -Processes

To setup the EchoPro to monitor various types of data, different recording processes can be established. For the long term crack data, the continuous recording process should be enabled and set to measure only channels with connected LVDTs (channels 1-6). Dynamic events require a trigger or threshold level recording process. A triggered process requires that each channel (typically geophone channels) serving as a trigger must be selected and given a specific level that will cause the system to record. Also, this process should record the response of all sensors attached to the EchoPro. Finally, if an external trigger is utilized (such as the LARCOR compliance seismograph); a second level recording process should be created. It will be set to trigger only from the external trigger channel and must record all sensor channels. More information on setting trigger levels is described in Appendix G.

### -Data Storage

Because of the large volume of data being stored at the units sampling rate of 1000 sps, it is necessary to employ a high capacity internal storage device. A thumb drive with at least 64 GB of storage will be required for autonomous monitoring of six continuously recorded channels at 1000 Hz. This assumes that the continuous data will dominate the space required for the burst or triggered events. However, a very active test site may require a larger storage device. While certain external hard drives can function with the EchoPro unit, it is difficult to ascertain the compatibility of a drive without testing it with the Kelunji.

## -Technical Changes

To improve the feasibility of the unit for crack monitoring, the unit was configured by its manufacturer to provide a 24V power pin in its sensor ports A and B. This setup is assumed for the wiring of the connector boxes and the use of LVDTs with the system (which require an external power source).

#### -Port Details

The following diagrams and photographs show the technical details of the Kelunji ports and their pinout descriptions.

44

# **Sensor Ports**



Figure A 1: Kelunji EchoPro External Sensor Ports

# EchoPro sensor port connector

Below is a diagram of the pin connections of the standard EchoPro input ports. Looking at the back of the supplied sensor connector shows the same pin configuration. The function of Each pin is listed below.

A n/c (24 V power pin on A&B – specially altered unit) **B GROUND** (battery ground) C X Signal D X Return E Y Signal F Y Return G Z Signal H Z Return J Voltage Calibrate Signal K Voltage Calibrate Ground (same as pin B) L n/c (not connected) M POWER (battery voltage) N n/c P n/c R n/c Sn/c T Current Calibrate Signal U Current Calibrate Return / Calibrate Enable **V SHIELD** 



( rear view )

Figure A 2: EchoPro Port Pinout

# **Appendix B - Connector Boxes**

#### Objective

The Kelunji connector box allows for the use of sensors that cannot directly interface with the Kelunji EchoPro. Because each of the four ports on the EchoPro can process three distinct input channels, the box must also be able to connect three sensors to one input cable. Due to the differences in sensor power requirements, two different units must be constructed, powered and unpowered.

As shown in Figure A 3, the powered connector box will transmit power from the EchoPro ports A and B to the appropriate sensors and transmit sensor output to the Kelunji to be recorded. The unpowered connector box connects the sensor outputs to the EchoPro ports C and D but does not provide power. Unpowered ports can service velocity gauges, which do not require power.

#### Equipment

The required equipment to construct the connector boxes includes: two aluminum casings, twelve Female Turck bulkhead connectors, and four bayonet cables

The aluminum case for the connector box measures six inches by four inches by three inches (L, W, and H) and includes a removable cover with four corner screws. This case serves to house and protect the electronics for the connection. The female Turck bulkhead connectors (nCode Part SO-J-MFK6F-CS10343), serve as ports to connect the twelve sensor channels to the Kelunji EchoPro via the final constructed equipment. The four bayonet cables have a free end that is secured within the connector box and a wired bayonet connection to plug into the four EchoPro ports.

#### Construction

The construction of the connector box can be divided into four key categories: drilling, wiring, sealing, and labeling.

# -Drilling

Drilling holes for the connector box is the essential first step. Each box requires six holes for the female Turck Picofast ports on one side and two larger holes for the bayonet connections on the other. As shown in the diagram below, the six holes for the channel ports are arranged in two triangular formations to make best use of the space.

First, the diameter of both the channel ports and the bayonet connector must be measured with a caliper. The holes need to be drilled just larger than these measurements to help provide a snug fit. The connector box can be drilled using a drill press or other equipment. Once these holes are created, the connector boxes should be sanded, cleaned, and should be checked for fits with the cables and connectors.



Figure A 3: Kelunji Connector Box Diagram

## -Wiring

In order to wire each connector box, the two wiring diagrams at the end of this document are essential. Interior wiring is illustrated in Figure A 4. For the powered box, the power, power ground, shield, signal ground, and signal leads must be connected. For the unpowered box, only the signal, signal ground, and shield leads need to be connected.

First, the leads from the female Turck Picofast port must be soldered to the corresponding leads on the bayonet cable, which must be in the connector box during this process. Each lead should be protected with heat shrink tubing. The power and ground leads must be split to three ways from the bayonet cable to each of the three port channels.



Figure A 4: Connector Box Interior Diagram

# -Sealing

The process protects the connector box wiring for use in an indoor instrumentation

environment. It is outlined below.

#### Turck Picofast Connectors (6 signal ports – shown in Figure A 5)

- Place female Connector Ports into holes from the inside
- Screw connecting nuts onto outside of ports
- Tighten to snug fit

#### Bayonet Connectors (2 large cables – shown in Figure A 6)

- Place Bayonet Connector Cable into ports from outside.
- Screw down plastic nut on inside of connector box
- Tighten to snug fit
- Ensure rubber ring complete seal on box
- Tighten top plate onto connector box

## - Labeling

Labeling ensures that the connector boxes and channel ports are easy to identify in the field. The powered box needs to have its channels (1-6) and the bayonet cables (A and B) labeled. The unpowered box will be labeled for channels (7-12) and bayonet cables (C and D). Additionally, each box can have a label identifying whether it is a powered or unpowered setup. The photographs below show the final construction of a connector box with labeling.



Figure A 6: Labeled Connector Box - Bayonet Cable Side



Figure A 5: Labeled Connector Box - Turck Picofast Connector Side

Cable	A (powered)
Turck Connector A-1 (powered)	80° 80° C
Pin 1 (brown) - n/c	
Pin 2 (white)	Cable A, X signal +
Pin 3 (blue)	
Pin 4 (black)	
Pin 5 (red)	
Pin 6 (green)	Cable A, X signal -
Turck Connector A-2 (powered)	
Pin 1 (brown) - n/c	
Pin 2 (white)	CableA, Y signal +
Pin 3 (blue)	
Pin 4 (black)	
Pin 5 (red)	
Pin 6 (green)	CableA, Y signal -
Turck Connector A-3 (powered)	
Pin 1 (brown) - n/c	
Pin 2 (white)	Cable A, 7 signal +
Pin 3 (blue)	
Pin 4 (black)	
Pin 5 (red)	
Pin 6 (green)	CableA, Zsignal -
	<i>(</i> ,
Cable E	(powered)
Cable E	3 (powered)
Cable E	(powered)
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c	(powered)
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white)	(powered) Powered Cable B. X signal +
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue)	(powered) Powered Cable B, X signal +
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue) Pin 4 (black)	(powered) Power Power of Cable B, X signal +
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue) Pin 4 (black) Pin 5 (red)	(powered) Power Power of Cable B, X signal +
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue) Pin 4 (black) Pin 5 (red) Pin 6 (green)	CableB, X signal -
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue) Pin 4 (black) Pin 5 (red) Pin 6 (green) Turck Connector B-2 (powered)	Cable B, X signal +
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue) Pin 4 (black) Pin 5 (red) Pin 6 (green) Turck Connector B-2 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c	Cable B, X signal +
Cable E Turck Connector B-1 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white) Pin 3 (blue) Pin 4 (black) Pin 5 (red) Pin 6 (green) Turck Connector B-2 (powered) Pin 1 (brown) - n/c Pin 2 (white)	Cable B, X signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, Y signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal + Cable B, X signal + Cable B, Y signal + Cable B, Y signal +
Cable E         Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, Y signal +
Cable E         Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal + Cable B, X signal + Cable B, Y signal + Cable B, Y signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	Cable B, X signal + Cable B, X signal + Cable B, Y signal + Cable B, Y signal + Cable B, Y signal +
Turck Connector B-1 (powered)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 1 (brown) - n/c         Pin 2 (white)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 3 (blue)         Pin 4 (black)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 5 (red)         Pin 6 (green)	(powered) Cable B, X signal + Cable B, X signal - Cable B, Y signal + Cable B, Y signal - Cable B, Z signal +

Figure A 7: Powered Connector Box Wiring Diagram

Kelunii connect	or box wiring	a VO round
	Cable C (unpowered)	one cone sield
Turck Connector C	C-1 (unpowered)	
Pin 1 (brown)	- n/c	X X
Pin 2 (white)		= CableC, X signal +
Pin 3 (blue) -	pla	
Pin 5 (red)	- n/c	
Pin 6 (green) -		– Cable C. Xsignal -
Turck Connector (	-2 (uppowered)	
Pin 1 (brown)	- n/c	
Pin 2 (white)	-1/2	CableC Y signal +
Pin 3 (blue)		
Pin 4 (black)	- n/c	1
Pin 5 (red)	- n/c	
Pin 6 (green) –	UNREP 2	– Cable C, Y signal -
Turck Concrete - (	2 (uppowered)	
Dip 1 (brown)	-> (unpowered)	
Pin 1 (brown) Din 2 (white)	-1/C	
Pin 3 (blue)		
Pin 4 (black)	- n/c	
Pin 5 (red)	- n/c	
Pin 6 (green) -		- Cable C, Z signal -
		AND ound
		1×V 10 10
	Cable D (unpowered)	powe powe shiet
Turck Connector	D-1 (unpowered)	
Pin 1 (brown)	- n/c	× ×
Pin 2 (white)		= CableD, X signal +
Pin 3 (blue) -		0
Pin 4 (black)	- n/c	
Pin 5 (red)	- n/c	
Pin 6 (green) -		– CableD, Xsignal -
Turck Connector I	D2 (unpowered)	
Pin 1 (brown)	- n/c	
Pin 2 (white)		Cable D, Y signal +
Pin 3 (blue) -	1	0
Pin 4 (black)	- n/c	
Pin 5 (red)	- n/c	
Pin 6 (green) -		- CableD, Y signal -
Turck Connector	D-3 (unpowered)	
Pin 1 (brown)	- n/c	
Pin 2 (white)		= CableD, Z signal +
Pin 3 (blue) -		
Pin 4 (black)	- n/c	
Pin 5 (red)	- n/c	<u></u>
Pin 6 (green) -		– CableD, Z signal -
	Female Picofast connector	
	looking head-on	
	4	

Figure A 8: Unpowered Connector Box Wiring Diagram

# **Appendix C - Geophones**

# Objective

A Geophone is an instrument that allows for the measurement of velocity at the point where it is mounted. The products are designed to measure one of two primary orientations, horizontal or vertical. For this project, geophones are employed to measure the structural response to dynamic events.

#### **Technical Description**

The HS1 model geophones, produced by the company Geospace, do not require a power supply, are relatively compact, and can be ordered with low natural frequencies. This model was chosen because of its usefulness for accurately measuring low frequency dynamic motion for structures. The output of the geophone is an electrical signal in volts that represents the response at a given location and time. The conversion factor into engineering units for an undamped sensor is 1.15 V per inch per second. However, the following graph shows how the conversion factors are modified for damping and frequency. More technical information can be found at the Geospace website.



Figure A 9: Output Voltage vs. Frequency for Damping Values

## **Geophone Preparation**

In order to prepare the HS1 model geophones for deployment, four major steps are necessary.

1. The sensor needs to be prepared for the correct level of damping (70%). First, the existing connection wire between the nodes needs to be cut and removed. Then, using a 1960 Ohm resistor, reconnect the nodes. This can be achieved by twisting the wires on each side around the nodes two or three times and trimming the excess. These wires should then be soldered onto the nodes. To test this connection, the resistance across the nodes can be checked with a multimeter. The correct reading should be around 760 Ohms.

2. The second step is to solder the geophone to the signal wire through the two output nodes. The geophone is marked with a plus (+), marking which output node carries the response signal. The wires are soldered vertically to both the resistor and the output node and protected by heat shrink tubing. The correct wiring is shown in the diagram below. The heat shrink tubing should cover each individual node and a larger tube to protect the entire connection. The proper preparation of the geophone should be determined with a multimeter for the resistance between the signal wires (with the same result as above).



Figure A 10: Geophone Wiring Diagram

3. A bracket must be constructed to anchor the sensor in the field in the desired orientation. First, aluminum plating 3" wide and 3/8" thick must be cut with a horizontal bandsaw at a length of 4 inches. Then a 1/2" hole must be made with a drill press or other method through the center of the square face. This hole must then be tapped to a one/half inch thread with 20 threads per inch.

The diagram below shows the end result. If the geophone is to be mounted vertically from a ceiling, it must be secured with screws. To do this, holes should be drilled in the corner of the bracket, just larger than that of the screws. Then, the top of this hole needs to be countersunk just larger than the head of the screw. A geophone attached by this method is shown below.



Figure A 11: Finished Geophone with Drilled Bracket



Figure A 12: Geophone & Bracket

4. The final step is to provide strain relief for the soldered connections so that disturbances in the field will not damage the sensor or its ability to transmit data. This is achieved by placing the signal wire through a snugly fitting plastic wire holder. Then, this wire holder is fastened and tightened directly to the top of the geophone with a 6/32" screw. The strain relief and the sensor preparation should is demonstrated in the photograph below.



Figure A 13: Geophone Strain Relief

# **Appendix D - LVDT's**

# Objective

The LVDT (Linear variable differential transformer) is a transducer that records displacements over time. For crack monitoring purposes, the MacroSensor SE 750-100 series was selected for its accuracy at very small displacements as well as input and output voltages that are feasible with the Kelunji EchoPro Recording System.

### **Technical Description**

The sensor requires 24 volts DC input power and sends a zero to ten volt output to the recorder. This sensor has a nominal range of one tenth of an inch, which allows for precise measurements of crack movements relative to the output resolution and the associated noise level (discussed in Noise Comparison). The output is an electrical signal that varies between 0 and 10 volts, converted to engineering units by the factor 100 V/in. Figure A 14 outlines some of the pertinent technical details. For more information, view the LVDT specification at the MacroSensor website.



Figure A 14: LVDT Technical Information

## **Sensor Preparation**

In order to prepare the LVDTs for use, five main processes have to be completed.

1. The sensor's signal, ground, and power leads need to be soldered to a male Turck Picofast cable, with heat shrink tubing for protection as shown in the wiring diagram in Figure A 15. The first step is to cut a short cable near the female connector and use the remaining cable (male end and free end) to connect with the LVDT. The second step is to strip away three to six inches of the exterior shield from the free end to expose the leads. Then, the corresponding leads of both the cable and the LVDT need to be soldered according to the wiring diagram below. Make sure to protect these soldered connections with heat shrink tubing (over both the solder joints and the open wire between the LVDT and the cable)



Figure A 15: LVDT Wiring Diagram

2. The body of the transducer has to be epoxied into a 1" by 1" square aluminum casing that will protect the sensor as well as facilitate the mounting process. To do this, cut a length of aluminum tube with a horizontal bandsaw to the length of the LVDT. The interior thickness must be filed slightly until the LVDT body just fits into the tube. Then, the rough edge should be sanded and the aluminum casing

cleaned. With the tube and LVDT ready, prepare one minute epoxy and apply to the top, bottom, and sides of the LVDT and slide it into the tubing. Ensure the front (sensing) face of the LVDT is aligned with the casing and clean up any excess epoxy.

3. The target bracket needs to be constructed to from 1"x1" L-shaped aluminum tubing, a 4/40" screw, two 4/40" bolts, two #4 washers, and the LVDT core as shown in Figure A 16. This bracket serves to hold the LVDT target in place on the opposite side of the crack being monitored. The first step is to cut an appropriate bracket from aluminum "L" tubing on a horizontal bandsaw. A good approximation is to cut a bracket the same length as the width of the LVDT casing (1"). Then, the target position must be determined by precisely measuring the height to the center of the LVDT from the exterior tubing. This will ensure that the target will be aligned accurately with the LVDT. Using a drill press or other equipment bore a hole through this location that is larger than the 4/40" screws but smaller than the bolt and washer diameters. This bracket should be sanded and cleaned once it is machined. Next, a screw must be mounted to the bracket with 4/40" nuts and #4 washers on both sides.



Figure A 16: LVDT Construction Diagram

4. The core of the LVDT needs to be attached to the bracket. First, the core is twisted onto the screw until about half of the core is threaded. Then, thread-locker must be applied to the screw and the

core moved over it. This will prevent future movement of the component, which is necessary for accurate measurements.

5. The LVDT needs strain relief to prevent damage to the sensor or the solder connection while in the field. First, a small hole must be drilled in the top right corner of the LVDT's aluminum casing, large enough for a small cable tie. Then, the LVDT connection must be bent onto the top of the casing and secured with a cable tie. This is shown in Figure A 17.



Figure A 17: LVDT Strain Relief

# **Appendix E** -<u>Temperature & Humidity Logger</u>

# Objective

The SUPCO temperature & humidity logger is used to measure the long term changes of these variables inside the test house. Combining this data with the long term crack response can show the correlation between temperature, humidity, and crack movement. Technical descriptions and further operating instructions can be found from the website or the software's help menu.

# **Logger Preparation**

Place 9V Battery into Data Logger. If necessary, install "LOGiTpcInterface" with installation disk Open Program "LOGiTpcInterface"

#### From Software's Help Menu

To set the LOGiT logger to start recording data, select **Setup** from the **Logger** menu. The setup options window is shown below.

etup for the LTH: Temperature Hum	idity Logger 🛛 🔁 🔀
- Logging Frequency	
Sample Interval (Total Rec	ording Length)
5 Secs (14 Hrs, 55 Mins, 50 Secs)	<b>•</b>
Enable Data Rollover	Custom Interval
- Logging Control	
C Logging starts when door is closed.	Stops when door is opened.
C Logging starts when setup is complet	e.
Logging starts at this time: 12/12/2	2001 💌 12:00 PM 📫
- Channels To Log	
☑ Temperature	
Relative Humidity	
Liser Information (Up to 30 char	acters)
T emperature Humidity Logger	
Alarm Setup	Continue
Advanced Setup	Cancel
Figure A 18: SUPCO S	etup Menu

Sample Interval (Total Recording Length): Select the sample interval from a predefined list of intervals. The sample interval greatly affects the battery life of the logger.

- Custom Interval: Adds your own interval to the sample interval list.
- Enable <u>Data Rollover</u>: Check this box to have the logger continuously record the data, overwriting earliest recorded data. When this box is not checked, logging is stopped when the logger memory becomes full.
- Logging Control: Logging can start in three ways depending on the selection you make:
  - 1. Logging Starts When Door Is Closed, Stops When Door is Opened: Logging will not start until the sliding door is closed. Logging is stopped when the sliding door is opened. This mode does not allow real time monitoring of data. Logging must be stopped before the data can be retrieved. When the sliding door is opened the logger will flash the LED for 10 seconds, if the door is closed again during this interval, the logging will not stop.
  - 2. Logging Starts When Setup is Complete: Logging will start immediately once the Continue button is pressed, and OK is clicked on the follow-up warning message. When logging is started in this way, the sliding door does not have any effect on logging, but can still be used to secure the logger.
  - 3. Logging Starts At This Time: Logging will start at the user specified time. There is no limit how far in the future you can set the logging to start. When logging is started in this way, the sliding door does not have any effect on logging, but can still be used to secure the logger.
- Channels to Log: You can elect to disable unused logger channels. When a channel is disabled, its memory is allocated to the other channels, increasing the total logging time. The total logging time will be reflected in the Sample Interval window. Depending on the logger, some channels are required and cannot be disabled. At least one channel must be enabled for logging.
- User Information: Enter any text you like in this box. This field is used to identify the logger to the user. You can enter descriptive location, serial number, etc.
- Alarm Setup: Click this button to open the Alarm Setup Window.

# **Data Retrieval**

### -Exporting SUPCO Temperature/Humidity Data to Excel

#### From Software's Help Menu

The LOGiTpc software allows exporting sample, alarm and logging summary data to a text file. In addition, sample data can be exported to a Microsoft Excel file.

- To export sample, alarm and logging summary data to a text file, from the File menu select
   Export -> Text File.
- To export sample data to a Microsoft Excel file, from the File menu select Export -> Excel File.

The file exported to Microsoft Excel is a text file that Excel understands. To read the file into Microsoft Excel, follow these steps:

- From the Microsoft Excel application choose **Open...** from the **File** menu.
- In the Open window, under Files of type: select Text Files.
- Select the file you exported from the LOGiTpc program.
- When the Text Import Wizard window opens, just click the Finish button.

# Appendix F - LARCOR – Kelunji Serial Splitter

### Objective

A serial splitter was constructed to allow an external trigger pulse from the LARCOR compliance seismograph to activate a recording process on the EchoPro unit. This splitter combines the function of a normal serial splitter with a soldered Turck Picofast cable that can communicate with the Kelunji EchoPro via a connector box.

## **Cable Wiring**

To construct the serial cable, the information outlined in Figure A 20 is vital. As stated, pins 5 (ground) and 9 (trigger output) as utilized by the LARCOR unit are essential to communicating a trigger pulse. As the wiring diagram shows, pin 5 (yellow lead) must be soldered to the green lead (signal ground) from a Turck Picofast cable with a free end and a male connector. Pin 9 (grey lead) must be soldered to the white lead (signal) from the same Turck Picofast cable. These are the only two pins necessary to the communication. If pins 1 and 4 were connected, they would freeze the trigger pulse at 5V and prevent the correct operation of this triggering process. Figure A 19 shows the assembly of the splitter cable and other cables.



Figure A 19: LARCOR to Kelunji EchoPro Connection Diagram



Figure A 20: LARCOR – Kelunji EchoPro Serial Splitter Wiring Diagram and Pinout

# **Appendix G - Setting Trigger Levels**

# Objective

The Kelunji EchoPro system can monitor dynamic events effectively through the use of certain trigger levels or thresholds. This allows for memory conservation and facilitates identification of key events. These triggers can occur from sensors directly connected into the EchoPro or from a separate monitoring system (such as the LARCOR compliance seismograph).

### **Appropriate Levels**

Setting appropriate trigger levels is vital to the proper operation of a triggered recording process. If the threshold level is too low, the device will be inundated with useless triggered recordings that will effectively bury the important dynamic recording and fill up the device's storage capacity. However, if the level is set too high, there is a risk of the system not recording when a key event occurs and losing that data.

From the experience of other crack and structural monitoring projects, the level selected for use in the field is 0.04 in/s for the ground motion geophone and 0.05 in/s for the internal structural geophones. For the air blast sensor, a typical trigger threshold is around 120 dB

### Setting Kelunji EchoPro Trigger Levels

The Kelunji EchoPro can be programmed to record once a given trigger threshold is reached. However, this is complicated by the fact that the unit expresses the sensor outputs in terms of analogdigital steps as opposed to voltage or engineering units. The following section will discuss how to set the correct trigger threshold on the Kelunji EchoPro. For additional information on processes and EchoPro operation, please refer to Appendix A and the Kelunji EchoPro user manual

First, the interior geophones were set to trigger the Kelunji when their zero to peak output exceeded .05 in/s. According to the calculation below, a HS1 geophone with seventy percent damping

will trigger the Kelunji at 29360 A/D steps or .35 percent of the range. This is based on the assumption of using the full 10 Volt positive and negative range and the unit having 2^24 A/D steps (2^23 A/D steps from 0 to 10 V)

$X \rightarrow A/D$ units	$\textbf{Y} \rightarrow \textbf{in/s}$							
Equation: Y = X*10/(2^23) (V/A/D step)) /0.7 (V/in/s) Equation: X = Y * 0.7 (V/in/s) * 2^23/10 (A/D steps/V)								
with Y = Trigger Level	0.05 29360.128	in/s A/D steps						
Trigger Percent	0.35%	percentage						

## Kelunji EchoPro with Geospace HS1 geophone (70% damped)

The image below shows the process options. For the internal triggers, it uses channels 7-11 (structural geophones), and records a total of 10 seconds with a 1 second pre-trigger buffer.

🗷 Enabled
Process Name: Kelunji Level
Process Type: Level Triggered
Trigger Channels
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Ext
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Threshold: 00.350 % of full scale
Pre-trigger Buffer: 1 seconds
Total Record Length: 10 seconds
Send SOH message every 0 hours
Generate alarm on output None -
Generate diamit on output None
Select channels to record
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Save locally Compress files
Send to : None -

Figure A 21: Kelunji Level Process

The exterior (buried) geophone and air overpressure gauge do not directly connect to the Kelunji EchoPro. However, they can still trigger the unit via the connection between the LARCOR compliance seismograph and the Kelunji. The output from the LARCOR to the EchoPro is a 5V step pulse. In order to trigger the EchoPro, another recording process was set up for channel 12 with a threshold of 45% (4.5 Volts).

# **Appendix H - Field Computation**

#### Objective

The netbook, flash drive, and external hard drive serve as the main tool in the analysis and storage of data obtained from the deployment of the EchoPro recording system. The final output from the scripts and templates will require use of this hardware. This appendix will outline the use of these pieces of equipment.

#### **Flash Drive**

The flash (thumb) drive serves as the storage device for the Kelunji EchoPro while deployed in the field. The drive tested and verified to function as intended is the SanDisk Ultra Backup - USB flash drive - 64 GB. However, any flash drive that has a FAT32 file system should be compatible with the EchoPro recorder

The priority in selecting a flash drive is the storage capacity. The 64 GB device, with continuous recording of LVDTs and dynamic monitoring of all sensors, has adequate memory for one month of recording before a change is necessary. If recording takes place beyond this limit, old data will begin to be overwritten with new data.

The organization of the flash drive is shown in the figure below. The EchoPro files are stored in a folder labeled "Local Archive." Within this directory are three folders for each main process of the EchoPro. ContO contains the continuous process files. Level2 contains the interior triggered files. Level3 contains the exterior triggered files. Within these folders, the data is organized by year, month, day, and hour.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	Tags	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	Tags
📙 Local Archive	5/31/2011 10:05 AM	File Folder			🍶 cont0	5/31/2011 10:05 AM	File Folder		
📕 Logs	5/31/2011 10:05 AM	File Folder			level2	5/31/2011 10:05 AM	File Folder		
					level3	5/31/2011 10:05 AM	File Folder		

Figure A 22: File System within Flash Drive

#### **External Hard Drive**

The external hard drive serves one primary purpose, storing data from multiple periods of deployment. Each month the unit is recording in the field, it requires an estimated 64 GB of storage space. If the unit were to be deployed for six months or a year, this number climbs to 6x64 GB and 12x64 GB.

#### Netbook

The netbook serves as the main computational device for the scripts and templates and a temporary data storage device for the data from the field. In order to use these tools, certain programs need to be installed. The automatic processing of the data by the scripts and templates in the netbook provide the basis for a technical report.

Necessary programs for the data collection and analysis include: Microsoft Excel, AutoHotkey, LOGiTpc Interface, and White seismograph analysis. Excel is necessary to run the templates that produce the summary tables and plots from the filtered deployment data. AutoHotkey runs the script that selectively filters the EchoPro deployment data. LOGiTpc allows data to be extracted from the SUPCO temperature and humidity loggers. White seismograph downloads and organizes data from the LARCOR compliance seismograph. These programs are located on the desktop of the netbook.

Similar to the programs outlined above, the EchoPro scripts and templates are located in a folder on the desktop labeled Kelunji software. The proper procedure for data retrieval and analysis is outlined in the EchoPro Analysis section of the user manual. Also, use of the specific software and templates are covered in the corresponding appendices.

68

# **Appendix I - Excel Analysis Templates**

# Objective

Microsoft Excel analysis templates simplify the analysis of data collected from the Kelunji EchoPro recorder and graph the selected results. They provide options for adjusting the data and graphs while automating much of the difficult processes involved with producing these results.

# Long Term Analysis Template

The Long Term Analysis Template requires data from both the LVDT or other micrometer crack gauges being monitored continuously and the interior and exterior SUPCO temperature and humidity gauges. The document graphs this data and summarizes it within a table.

# -Organization

These functions and outputs are organized within the six spreadsheet tabs within the document as follows:

- 1<sup>st</sup> tab is for Data Input
- 2<sup>nd</sup> tab is graphs of the 6 LVDT channels
- 3<sup>rd</sup> tab is graphs of selected LVDT and the 4 temperature and humidity channels.
- 4<sup>th</sup> tab is graphs of selected LVDT and 2 temperature and humidity channels.
- 5<sup>th</sup> tab provides graph options
- 6<sup>th</sup> tab displays a summary table of the calculated results for all channels.

The first tab within the document is shown in the two figures below. The primary purpose is to provide a space for data from the EchoPro recorder and SUPCO gauges to be entered and then converted to the correct engineering format for plotting. The key areas are numbered as follows.

1. The conversion factor for the LVDTs, in Volts/inch. Changing this number will automatically change the calculations within the document.

- Kelunji EchoPro Hourly Data must be copied and pasted (numbers only) into this space. The columns include the date on the left and one for each possible LVDT channel on the recorder.
- 3. Internal temperature and humidity data from the SUPCO loggers must be copied and pasted (numbers only) into this space. Columns include the temperature, humidity, dew point, date/time, and most importantly, an **indicator** of what temperature and humidity value corresponds to the first entry of crack data. This indicator is crucial for aligning the graphs (discussed further within the user's manual)
- 4. This area is identical to 3, except it pertains to external temperature and humidity data.
- This number points out the location of the Macros button within the view tab of the top ribbon of Excel. The scripts for properly using this document will be accessed via the Macros button.
- 6. The bottom-left side of the document shows all the tabs within the template. Use this area to change to different tabs of the document.
- 7. This space converts all the data from the EchoPro analog-digital units to engineering units.
- 8. This space centers all the data on the average to plot all data in relation to zero instead of some arbitrary scale.



Figure A 23: Data Input Tab of the Long Term Analysis Template – Left Side



Figure A 24: Data Input Tab of the Long Term Analysis Template – Right Side

### -Data Processing

Once the data from both the EchoPro and the SUPCO loggers are added into the template, they are automatically converted to engineering units and then centered on the average value of its time history. These processes are explained below.

Data conversion to engineering units uses the following formula:

$$Output (micro - inches) = \frac{Input (AD steps)}{2^{23}(Total AD steps)} * \frac{10 Volts (nominal range)}{100 \left(\frac{Volts}{inch}\right)} * 1,000,000 \left(\frac{\mu - in}{in}\right)$$

This formula takes an input of AD steps from the Kelunji, divides it by the Total AD range of the recorder, multiplies by the total nominal voltage range divided by the conversion factor and then multiplies this by the number of micro-inches per inch to calculate the output.

Centering the data on its average is carried out by the following formula that subtracts the average output of all the data points from each data point, which translates the graph to improve the plots.

## -Plotting Results

Once these processes are completed, data within the template are ready to be plotted. This conversion occurs automatically within the document. Dynamic named ranges are used to select the correct data to plot. These dynamic ranges are in a format similar to the one for UTC time below.

UTCTime = OFFSET(Data! \$A\$7,0,0, COUNTA(Data! \$A: \$A) - 4)

This formula counts the number of cells with values in column A within the Data tab and selects the range of values to be plotted. These dynamic ranges are used directly as inputs into the graphs. This counting allows for different amounts of data and ranges to be graphed automatically by the template.

In order for the graphs to display the data correctly, three excel macro's were developed. These can be accessed with the macros button shown in the figure above (labeled number 5). The macros, named "y\_axis", "x\_axis", and "GraphTitles", are controlled by parameters within the graph options tab. The figure below highlights the two main areas in this tab.

- A. The y-axis and x-axis limits of all the graphs are determined automatically by a roundup calculation based on the Data from tab 1. However, these can also be set manually at the user's discretion.
- B. The Graph Titles gives the user the option to automatically label graphs as desired. While initial titles are given in this region, it is recommended that new titles are given with more specific information about the sensor (orientation, location, etc.).



Figure A 25: Graph Options Tab of the Long Term Analysis Template
When running the macros, the current numbers or titles within areas A and B are used to modify the graphs to either default or user specified values. If changes are made to the graph options, the macros MUST be run again to transfer these modifications to the plots.

# **Dynamic Excitation Analysis Template**

The Dynamic Excitation Analysis Template requires data from both the Kelunji EchoPro recorder and the LARCOR compliance seismograph. The document graphs this data and summarizes it within a table.

# -Organization

These functions and outputs are organized within the eight spreadsheet tabs within the document as follows:

- 1<sup>st</sup> tab is for Data Input
- 2<sup>nd</sup> tab is graphs of the 6 LVDT channels
- 3<sup>rd</sup> tab has 3 selected LVDT and geophone channels.
- 4<sup>th</sup> tab has the 4 exterior channels from the LARCOR and one select LVDT and geophone channel.
- 5<sup>th</sup> tab has 2 displacement and 2 geophone channels.
- 6<sup>th</sup> tab displays 2 displacement and 2 LVDT channels and one relative displacement plot.
- 7<sup>th</sup> tab provides graph options
- 8<sup>th</sup> tab displays a summary table of the calculated results for all channels.

The first tab within the document is shown in the two figures below. The primary purpose is to provide a space for data from the EchoPro recorder and LARCOR seismograph to be entered and then converted to the correct engineering format for plotting. The key areas are numbered as follows.

- The conversion factors for the LVDTs, in Volts/inch, and the geophones, in Volts/inch/second. Changing this number will automatically change the calculations within the document.
- 2. Kelunji EchoPro Hourly Data must be copied and pasted (numbers only) into this space. The columns include the time on the left and another column for each of the 12 channels.
- 3. LARCOR data must be copied and pasted (numbers only) into this space. Columns include the three tri-axial geophone outputs, the air blast, the time, and most importantly, an

**indicator** of when the trigger event occurred in the data. This indicator is crucial for aligning the graphs (discussed further within the user's manual)

- 4. This space converts all the data from the EchoPro analog-digital units to engineering units.
- 5. This number points out the location of the Macros button within the view tab of the top ribbon of Excel. The scripts for properly using this document will be accessed via the Macros button.
- 6. The bottom-left side of the document shows all the tabs within the template. Use this area to change to different tabs of the document.
- This space centers all the data on the average to plot all data in relation to zero instead of some arbitrary scale.
- 8. This space calculates the absolute structural displacement with data from the geophones.
- This space calculates the relative displacement between two selected structural displacements.



Figure A 26: Data Input Tab of Dynamic Analysis Template – Left Side



Figure A 27: Data Input Tab of the Dynamic Analysis Template – Right Side

### -Data Processing

Once the data from both the EchoPro and the LARCOR units are added into the template, they are automatically converted (if necessary) to engineering units and then centered on the average value of its time history. These processes are explained below.

Data conversion to engineering units for the LVDTs uses the same formula as for the Long-Term Template and the formula can be found in the above section. The geophone conversion uses the following formula:

$$Output (inches/second) = \frac{Input (AD steps)}{2^{23}(Total AD steps)} * \frac{10 Volts (nominal range)}{.7 \left(\frac{Volts}{inch/second}\right)}$$

This formula takes an input of AD steps from the Kelunji, divides it by the Total AD range of the recorder, multiplies by the total nominal voltage range and divides it by the conversion factor provided to the template. Centering the LVDT data on its average uses the same equation as in the above section.

The structural displacements are calculated with the following equation: *Displacement (milli – inch)* 

 $= (Geophone \ Output(Time \ x + 1) - Geophone \ Output \ (Time \ x)) * TimeStep * 1000 \ (milli - in/in)$ 

This formula subtracts the next geophone output from the current one, multiplies by the time step, and converts to milli-inches, which is a simple way of integrating the data from inches per second to inches.

The relative displacements are calculated with the following equation: Relative displacement (milli – inch) = displacement (Channel X) – displacement (Channel Y) When two geophones are situated on opposite ends of a wall (top and bottom, far sides, etc.), the relative displacement of the ends can allow for a calculation of the strain in the wall.

### -Plotting Results

Once these processes are completed, data within the template are ready to be plotted. This conversion occurs automatically within the document. Dynamic named ranges are used to select the correct data to plot. These dynamic ranges are in a format similar to the one for UTC time below.

#### UTCTime=OFFSET(Data!\$A\$7,0,0,COUNTA(Data!\$A:\$A)-4)

This formula counts the number of cells with values in column A within the Data tab and selects the range of values to be plotted. These dynamic ranges are used directly as inputs into the graphs. This counting allows for different amounts of data in different ranges to be graphed automatically by the template.

In order for the graphs to display the data correctly, three excel macro's were developed. These can be accessed with the macros button shown in the figure above (labeled number 5). The macros, named "y\_axis", "x\_axis" and "GraphTitles", are controlled by parameters within the graph options tab. The figure below highlights the two main areas in this tab.

- A. The y-axis limits of all the graphs are determined automatically by a roundup calculation based on the Data from tab 1. However, these can also be set manually at the user's discretion.
- B. The x-axis limits of all the graphs are determined automatically by a roundup calculation based on the Data from tab 1. These can also be set manually by the user.
- C. The Graph Titles gives the user the option to automatically label graphs as desired. While initial titles are given in this region, it is recommended that new titles are given with more specific information about the sensor (orientation, location, etc.).

(	Crack Move	ment (LVD	T) Y-Axis Limi	its	X-Ax	dis Limits		Graph Titles
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value	Graph Limits	s Major Unit	Graph	Major Unit	Chart	Title
561.83	600.00	600.00	1200.00	600.00	11.000	1	1	Crack Response - Channel 1
1110.98	-1200.00	1200.00	-1200.00	600.00	0.000	1	2	Crack Response - Channel 2
							3	Crack Response - Channel 3
							4	Crack Response - Channel 4
Struc	tural Move	ment (Geo	phone) Y-Axis	Limits	Y-label		5	Crack Response - Channel 5
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value	Graph Limits	s Major Unit	300		6	Crack Response - Channel 6
1.640	2.000	2.000	2.000	1.000			7	Crack Response - Channel 1
-1.363	-2.000	2.000	-2.000	1.000			8	Crack Response - Channel 2
							9	Crack Response - Channel 3
							10	Structural Response - Channel 7
Exter	nal Ground	Motion (LA	ARCOR) Y-Axis	Limits			11	Structural Response - Channel 8
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value	Graph Limits	s Major Unit			12	Structural Response - Channel 9
2.80	2.80	2.80	3.00	1.50			13	AirBlast
-2.72	-3.00	3.00	-3.00	1.50			14	Radial Ground Motion
							15	Vertical Ground Motion
							16	Transverse Ground Motion
	Air Blast	(LARCOR) Y	-Axis Limits				17	Crack Response - Channel 2
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value	Graph Limits	s Major Unit			18	Structural Response - Channel 7
112.00	120.00	120.00	120.00	60.00			19	Structural Response - Channel 8
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	60.00			20	Structural Response - Channel 9
							21	Displacement - Channel 8
							22	Displacement - Channel 9
	Absolute D	isplacemen	nt Y-Axis Limit	ts			23	Crack Response - Channel 4
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value	Graph Limits	s Major Unit			24	Crack Response - Channel 5
0.17478	0.20000	0.20000	0.30000	0.15000			25	Relative Displacement (8&9)
-0.21906	-0.30000	0.30000	-0.30000	0.15000			26	Displacement - Channel 8
							27	Displacement - Channel 9
	Relative D	isplacemen	t Y-Axis Limit	ts				
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value	Graph Limits	s Major Unit				
0.18628	0.20000	0.20000	0.30000	0.15000				
-0.20305	-0.30000	0.30000	-0.30000	0.15000				
Data	Con als Da		/ Inhadian	Times / Fu		ly and the second	1.12 61 1	

Figure A 28: Graph Options Tab of the Dynamic Analysis Template

When running the macros, the current numbers or titles within areas A and B are used to modify the graphs to either default or user specified values. If changes are made to the graph options, the macros MUST be run again to transfer these modifications to the plots.

# -Scaling Example

- 1. Open the Graph Scaling Example File
- 2. Navigate to the External Trigger Tab. The ground motion plots are shown in Figure A 29



Figure A 29: Initial Scaling of Ground Motion Plots

3. Select the Graph Options Tab. Find the corresponding y-axis table (in this case: External Ground Motion (LARCOR) Y-Axis Limits).

1	Crack Move	ment (LVDT	its	X-Ax	is Limits	
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value (	Graph Limits	Major Unit	Graph	Major Unit
45.10	45.10	45.10	300.00	150.00	4.000	1
-139.81	-200.00	200.00	-300.00	150.00	1.000	1
Struc	tural Movo	montlGoon	honol V Avir	Limite	Vishel	
Pages	Reunded	Abs Value /	Smah Limite	Mainellait	75	
nange	0 COO	AUS-Value V	0 500	o 200	/5	
-0.569	-0.600	0.600	-0.600	0.300		
Exter	nal Ground	Motion (LA	RCOR) Y-Axis	Limits		
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value (	Graph Limits	Major Unit		
0.62	1.00	1.00	0.75	0.38		
-0.64	-0.70	0.70	-0.75	0.38		
	Air Blast	(LARCOR) Y-	Axis Limits			
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value (	Graph Limits	Major Unit		
0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01		
0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01		
_	Absolute D	)isplacement	t Y-Axis Limit	ts		
Range	Rounded	Abs-Value (	Graph Limits	Maior Unit		
0.06401	0.07000	0.07000	0.05000	0.02500		
0.05108	-0.07000	0.07000	-0.05000	0.02500		

4. Change the Graph Limits from -1.50 and 1.50 to -.75 and .75 as shown in Figure A 30.

Figure A 30: Altering Graph Limits for Scaling Example

- 5. Run the y-axis Macro.
- 6. View the results in the exterior trigger tab. They should look like the plots in Figure A 31.



Figure A 31: Final Scaling of Ground Motion Plots

# **Appendix J - Filtering and Storage of Data**

## Objective

A script was developed to autonomously manage the large number of data files recorded by the Kelunji EchoPro. This script allows for the quick extraction and conversion of data from a removable flash hard drive, organized in text files. The program can be split into three main parts, as shown in the diagram below.

The Kelunji EchoPro samples all crack sensor outputs continuously at 1000 samples per second and stores the measurements in one minute long files. Thus, the archive for each transducer contains 60,000 points for each minute. Since, sub-sampling is not available with the EchoPro, the unwanted data must be filtered before analysis. Also, the EchoPro records any dynamic or burst events and stores them as single files in a separate directory.

## Kelunji Script





### -Initial Filtering

The first main subroutine selectively filters the EchoPro archive for the pertinent files from the recorder and copies them to the netbook. There are two file types of interest: long term response data and dynamic (burst) data.

The long term data requires extensive filtering due to the continuous recording of the sensors. The 60, one minute-long files with 60,000 data points in each minute are mostly unnecessary information. Therefore, the script archives the first one minute long files for every hour, which reduces the amount to be converted to 1/60 of the original data. The dynamic events are archived in either the level 2 (internally triggered) or level 3 (externally triggered) directories. Each file is named with the time stamp associated with the trigger signal. The script copies the entire archive of dynamic files from the flash drive onto the local hard drive.

Once the necessary data is downloaded off the storage device, the script will move to the next main subroutine.

### -Data Conversion

In order for the data files to be readily analyzed, they must have a file format that is easy to important into Microsoft Excel for analysis. Currently, the Kelunji uses a format called the Seismic Unified Data System (SUDS) (<u>http://www.banfill.net/suds.html</u>). The command-line utility that converts these files is part of a free-available software package called Win-SUDS. The script transforms conversion of the data files from .dmx to .txt format from a command line program to an autonomous process.. This process is complicated by the initial layout of the new text files. Data for each channel is expressed in up to ten columns, which would make analysis nearly impossible. The program alters the text files to display each channel's output in one column with a universal time stamp in another column. The miscellaneous information for the recorder and the channels is preserved but separated from the output columns to prevent confusion. The files generated are designed to be easily viewable within Microsoft Excel or similar programs. With the data conversion completed, the script will continue by manipulating the data to facilitate future analysis.

#### -Data Manipulation

The subroutine to help manipulate the data is partially completed and requires future developments before it can be deemed a finished product. Currently, the software executed the following processes.

The long term data only requires one data point per hour for the output of the crack sensors. This data point is obtained by averaging the first 1000 points of the selected, one minute long records for each hour, as described above. These averages are compiled in column form within the hourly

80

averages text file. A sample of this output in excel is shown in Figure 54. Temperature and humidity long term data are automatically recorded each hour as a single point by the SUPCO gauge, as described in Appendix E. They can be compared graphically with the long term crack response with standard excel graphing.

	A	В	C	D	E	F	G
1	UTC Time	c01	c02	c03	c04	c05	c06
2	01/25/11 07:26 PM	8388607	2835584.99	-300733.65	3862408.73	-623065.06	-1370.1
3	01/25/11 08:26 PM	4910340.63	2899449.63	3579198.76	5724355.82	2046737.7	-1345.16
4	01/25/11 09:26 PM	4911984.55	2895799.76	3578934.35	5724800.33	2047610.11	-1340.39
5	01/25/11 10:26 PM	4913580.09	2895764.44	3578728.31	5726216.96	2047967.3	-1342.03
6	01/25/11 11:26 PM	4914694.99	2895676.23	3578315.03	5727784.81	2049059.76	-1340.84
7	01/26/11 12:26 AM	4916402.52	2896019.6	3578393.09	5728995.73	2048783.79	-1337.63
8	01/26/11 01:26 AM	4917089.11	2895976.3	3578485.7	5727900.29	2047652.28	-1338.16
9	01/26/11 02:26 AM	4917806.13	2896035.46	3578442.79	5728969.81	2048175.49	-1338
10	01/26/11 03:26 AM	4918487.55	2896122.95	3578049.3	5730321.19	2049144.58	-1338.77
11	01/26/11 04:26 AM	4919394.26	2896094.44	3578177.27	5730552.52	2049513.79	-1338.97
12	01/26/11 05:26 AM	4919940.32	2895951.82	3577899.71	5731682.15	2049970.33	-1337.5
13	01/26/11 06:26 AM	4920565.58	2896141.66	3578199.82	5732318.08	2049851.44	-1340.68
14	01/26/11 07:26 AM	4921237.34	2896101.82	3578011.69	5732804.57	2050437.37	-1339.14
15	01/26/11 08:26 AM	4921622.72	2896154.82	3578127.4	5733533.16	2050129.17	-1340.77
16	01/26/11 09:26 AM	4921990.11	2896115.88	3578023.41	5733734.95	2050421.15	-1338.18

Figure 54: Sample Hourly Averages Output in Excel

The triggered data does not require any manipulation as the entire time history for each channel will be needed for display and analysis.

The next step in software development is to provide a graphical user interface that will allow users to adjust the program and its output. With this completed, the script could ask for an input, such as a conversion factor, and express the final outputs in engineering units. At the moment, all of the script outputs are in terms of A/D steps which must be converted separately from the script after its completion. The GUI would also help improve the flexibility of the program by allowing users to dictate sensors for each channel, where output files should be saved, and numerous other possibilities.

#### -Script Output

The final output of these subroutines is contained in a folder, labeled by the timestamp of when the script was executed. The folder contains a separate text file for each triggered event and one file for the hourly averages obtained from the continuous crack data. The triggered records are named by the date and time of the triggering event. There is also a temp folder containing all of the original files from the initial filtering. The script output is shown in Figure 55 and Figure 56

Name	Date modif	Type	Size	Tags	č		
temp				2011-01-26_1320_2	ECHOP.drnx.brt.columnized	2011-01-27_1624_01_ECHOP.dmx.bxt.columnized	2011-01-28_1830_28_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1329_59_ECHK	0P.dms.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1321_5	3_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-27_1627_49_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-29_1550_43_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1342_56_ECH0	P.dms.bd.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1329_5	4_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-27_1637_50_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_0756_02_ECHOP.dms.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1413_02_ECHO	P.dms.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1331_0	6_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	2011-01-27_1656_50_ECHOP.dmx.bt.columnized	2011-01-31_0813_19_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1505_09_ECHK	P.dmo.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1337_1	5_ECHOP.dmx.brt.columnized	2011-01-27_1711_39_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_0902_25_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1519_48_ECHK	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1353_5	2_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-27_1956_07_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_0955_21_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1542_48_ECH0	DP.dmo.tut.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1356_4	2_ECHOP.dms.txt.columnized	2011-01-27_1956_47_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_0958_17_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1544_01_ECHO	OP.dms.trt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1430_5	6_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_0706_13_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1021_30_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1545_12_ECHK	OP.dms.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1500_3	0_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_0707_38_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1032_16_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1605_19_ECHK	P.dmo.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1538_1	0_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_0712_34_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1147_58_ECHOP.dmx.btt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1610_05_ECH0	0P.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1543_5	4_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_0911_18_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1224_00_ECHOP.dmx.bt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1622_12_ECH0	P.dmit.trt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1618_3	5_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	2011-01-28_0914_58_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1225_38_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1636_15_ECHO	OP.dms.tut.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1727_4	0_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_0917_08_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1234_16_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1656_31_ECHK	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1845_1	5_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_0926_52_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1312_05_ECHOP.dmx.btt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1947_38_ECHO	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1845_5	7_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_0935_52_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-31_1316_16_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized
2011-01	-25_1952_55_ECHK	0P.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_1848_5	7_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	2011-01-28_0951_28_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	hourly_averages
2011-01	-26_0828_22_ECH0	P.dms.tut.c	olumnized	2011-01-26_2012_2	1_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_0959_49_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_0834_21_ECHK	P.dmx.tut.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_0823_5	8_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1109_07_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_0911_41_ECHK	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_0824_5	3_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_1117_52_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_0938_47_ECHK	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_0902_2	3_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1149_15_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1041_49_ECH0	OP.dmx.tut.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1025_0	4_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	2011-01-28_1156_11_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1042_56_ECH0	OP.dms.tat.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1026_1	4_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1201_14_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1129_23_ECHK	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1038_1	6_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_1249_22_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1132_23_ECHK	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1125_0	1_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1329_29_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1137_59_ECHK	P.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1133_1	5_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1359_25_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1139_05_ECH0	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1136_0	8_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1533_01_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1153_50_ECHK	P.dmo.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1247_4	6_ECHOP.dmx.bxt.columnized	2011-01-28_1607_08_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1216_10_ECHK	P.dmx.bit.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1315_1	8_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_1628_43_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1250_21_ECHK	P.dmx.brt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1340_3	2_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1655_31_ECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1306_37_ECH0	P.dmic.tet.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1350_5	9_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	2011-01-28_1656_\$4_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1307_35_ECH	P.dms.tut.c	olumniged	2011-01-27_1355_1	3_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	2011-01-28_1658_08_ECHOP.dmx.bd.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1309_46_ECHK	P.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1357_0	LECHOP.dmx.bit.columnized	2011-01-28_1819_15_ECHOP.dmx.bxt.columnized	
2011-01	-26_1314_12_ECH	OP.dmx.txt.c	olumnized	2011-01-27_1447_2	3_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	2011-01-28_1825_53_ECHOP.dmx.txt.columnized	

Figure 55: Sample Script Output

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	
2011-01-25_1329_59_E	2/7/2011 3:31 PM	Text Document	468 KB	
2011-01-25_1342_56_E	2/7/2011 3:31 PM	Text Document	465 KB	
2011-01-25_1413_02_E	2/7/2011 3:31 PM	Text Document	466 KB	
Long Term Data	Dynamic Events	Abrie	dged ive	
2011-01-31_1234_16_E/	2/7/2011 3:34 PM	Text Document	462 KB	
2011-01-31_1312_05_E/	2/7/2011 3:34 PM	Text Document	465 KB	
2011-01-31_1316_16_E	2/7/2011 3:34 PM	Text Document	464 KB	
hourly_averages	2/7/2011 3:34 PM	Text Document	16 KB	

Figure 56: Abridged Script Output

# **Appendix K – Sample Data Practice Example: Excel Templates**

# Objective

Proper processing of the data obtained from the EchoPro and other sensor systems is vital to obtaining correct tables and plots. Data from a deployment of the system at Sycamore, IL was used to create sample files and sample outputs that can serve as a training exercise in the use of the excel templates. This will give users experience to improve results when analyzing field data.

### Procedure

To rehearse the use of the excel templates, first locate the sample data. As shown in Figure A 32, these files are located in a folder on the desktop named Kelunji software -> excel templates -> template example files. The excel templates are located in the excel templates folder.

The user should follow the instructions in the Excel Templates subsection of the EchoPro Analysis – Software, Scripts, and Templates section of the user manual. There are separate processes for both the long term template and the dynamic excitation template. The results of the templates should be identical to the tables and plots shown in the outputs section below.

kelunji software 🕨 excel templates 🕨 template example files 🔹 👻 🥠 Search								
📗 Views 🔻 🙆 Bur	n			?				
	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size				
	dynamic excitation sample data	6/8/2011 11:46 PM	Text Document	241				
	exterior temperature sample data	6/8/2011 3:19 PM	Text Document	21				
	hourly_averages sample data	6/9/2011 12:13 AM	Text Document	14 (				
ged	interior temperature sample data	6/8/2011 3:17 PM	Text Document	10				
	LARCOR excitation sample data	6/8/2011 11:47 PM	Text Document	103				
~								

Figure A 32: Location of Sample Data Files

## Outputs

The outputs generated from the two excel templates are shown in the figures below. The tables generated by the instructions may look slightly different based on the user entered descriptions and titles but the numbers for the channels should be the same. The output graphs, unless the scaling was manually altered, should be identical to the ones in this Appendix.

# -Long Term Practice Outputs – Sample Data

	Long Term Sample Data	Sample Long Term Data to Check the							
	4/13/11 - 4/17/11	Process Outlined by the User Manual							
	Kelunji EchoPro								
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit					
1	Response - Crack 1	360	-637	μ-in					
2	Response - Crack 2	868	-781	μ-in					
3	Response - Crack 3	24	-36	μ-in					
4	Response - Crack 4	146	-266	μ-in					
5	Response - Crack 5	200	-210	μ-in					
6	Response - Crack 6	81	-115	μ-in					
	Interior SUPCO Temperature a	nd Humidity Logge	er						
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit					
Temp	Interior Temperature	72.430	66.080	۴F					
Hum	Interior Humidity	43.500	34.400	%					
	Exterior SUPCO Temperatu	ure and Humidity L	.ogger						
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit					
Temp	External Temperature	71.222	33.494	°F					
Hum	External Humidity	98.886	29.989	%					

#### Table A 1: Long Term Sample Data Table











Figure A 35: Long Term Sample Plot - Tab 4

# -Dynamic Excitation Practice Outputs – Sample Data

C	Oynamic Excitation Sample Data	Sample Dynamic Excitation Data to Check the								
	April 20th 2011 09:53	Process Ou	tlined by the User	Manual						
	Kelunji EchoPro									
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit						
1	Crack Response - Channel 1	425	-228	μ-in						
2	Crack Response - Channel 2	702	-971	μ-in						
3	Crack Response - Channel 3	7	-11	μ-in						
4	Crack Response - Channel 4	126	-174	μ-in						
5	Crack Response - Channel 5	157	-327	μ-in						
6	Crack Response - Channel 6	187	-274	μ-in						
7	Structural Response - Channel 7	1.64	-1.36	in/s						
8	Structural Response - Channel 8	0.43	-0.48	in/s						
9	Structural Response - Channel 9	0.94	-0.71	in/s						
10	Structural Response - Channel 10	0.58	-0.74	in/s						
11	Structural Response - Channel 11	0.00	0.00	in/s						
12	Trigger Signal - Channel 12	5.03	0.00	Volts						
	LARCOR Seismogra	ph								
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit						
А	Air Blast	112	0	Decibels						
R	Radial Ground Motion	2.12	-1.82	in/s						
V	Vertical Ground Motion	2.48	-1.86	in/s						
Т	Transverse Ground Motion	2.8	-2.72	in/s						
	Displacement									
Channel	Description	Maximum	Minimum	Unit						
7	Absolute Displacement - Channel 7	0.175	-0.219	milli-in						
8	Absolute Displacement - Channel 8	0.091	-0.072	milli-in						
9	Absolute Displacement - Channel 9	0.140	-0.141	milli-in						
10	Absolute Displacement - Channel 10	0.053	-0.057	milli-in						
11	Absolute Displacement - Channel 11	0.000	0.000	milli-in						
Ch9 -										
Ch8	Relative Displacement (Ch 9 - Ch8)	0.186	-0.203	milli-in						

### Table A 2: Dynamic Excitation Sample Table











Figure A 38: Dynamic Excitation Sample Plot - Tab 4



Figure A 39: Dynamic Excitation Sample Plot - Tab 5



Figure A 40: Dynamic Excitation Sample Plot - Tab 6

# **Appendix L - Excel Template Modifications**

The original excel templates displayed crack width expansion as a negative value and crack width reduction as a positive value. However, the opposite is more intuitive. Therefore, the graphs within this manual will be displayed with positive values as negative ones and negative ones as positive ones. Figure A 41 and Figure A 42 demonstrate this change.



Figure A 42: Corrected Graph Output with Correct Signs on the Data